
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

April 16, 2024 5:30 pm 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr  

 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 

 

A) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing April 2024 as Fair Housing Month.  

B) Presentation of a Certificate to former Councilmember Venus Mack for her 

Completion of the Robert E. Knox, Jr. Municipal Leadership Institute.   

 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 04-02-2024 Council Minutes 

b) 04-02-2024 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion to approve surplus and disposition of a 1997 Ford F-350 in 

the Public Utilities Department. 

 

6. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: APPLICATION RZ 24-03-01: 

Nikira Boggs requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the LI (Light Industrial) zoning 

district to the MX (Mixed-Use) zoning district on approximately 0.31 acres of property in 

order develop a walk-up restaurant at 193 West Main Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000178 

000). 

 

7. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: APPLICATION SUB 24-03-

02: Simcoe Investment Group, LLC requests a Preliminary Subdivision PLAT on 

approximately 26.32 acres of property in order to construct 152 townhome units on Jones 

Mill Road (Tax Parcel # MS84000002 001). 

 

8. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve:  

 

     a. APPLICATION RZ 24-03-03: Ogeechee Area Hospice requests a Zoning Map 

Amendment from the O/R-15 (Office and Business/Single-Family Residential) zoning 

district to the O (Office & Business) Zoning District on approximately 0.49 acres of 

property in order develop an expansion to the existing hospice business at 1001 East 

Inman Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000178 000). 

     b. APPLICATION V 24-03-04: Ogeechee Area Hospice requests a Variance from 

the setback requirements of Section 2.3.3 – Dimensional Standards of the Unified 

Development Code, in order to construct a proposed hospice accessory building at 1001 

East Inman Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000178 000). 



9. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: APPLICATION RZ 24-03-05:

Burbank Pointe, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family

Residential) zoning district to the R-6 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district on

approximately 0.32 acres of property in order develop an infill cottage court 231 East

Main Street (Tax Parcel # S39 000054 000).

10. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol

license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a):

Azul Tex-Mex Express, LLC 

408 South Main Street  

Statesboro, Ga 30458 

License Type: Restaurant 

11. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: Resolution 2024-09: A

Resolution to transmit the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan to the Coastal Regional

Commission for the 40 day comment and review period.

12. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2024-10: A Resolution authorizing the

destruction of certain municipal records.

13. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2024-11: A Resolution to re-certify the

City of Statesboro as a Georgia Certified City of Ethics.

14. Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2024-02: recodification of Article IV:

Noise of Chapter 38.

15. Consideration of a motion to approve a 50 year ground lease with the Food Bank, Inc. for

3.75 acres located at the intersection of Northside Drive and Miller Street.

16. Consideration of a motion to conditionally approve an application submitted by

Centurion Property 111 South, LLC dba South Apartments for funding under the Security

Enhancement Incentive Program in the amount of $19,969.50, subject to the fulfillment

of all eligibility requirements.

17. Consideration of a motion to approve an award of contract to Hudson and Hubbard

Contractors in the amount of $131,530.00 for the Averitt Center for the Arts façade

renovation. If approved, this project will be funded using 2019 SPLOST funds.

18. Consideration of a motion to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy,

Gay, Bell Engineering, Inc. in the amount not to exceed $374,100.00 to provide design,

bid,  and contract administration services for the extension of sanitary sewer and water to

the Burkhalter Rd / Railroad Bed Rd area. To be paid for with operating revenues and

2019 SPLOST as approved in CIP Projects WWD-196 & WWD-197.



 

 

19. Other Business from City Council 

 

20.  City Managers Comments 

 

21. Public Comments (General) 

 

22. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

23. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 
city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 

 

 

FAIR HOUSING MONTH 
 

WHEREAS:  The Fair Housing Act, enacted on April 11, 1968 enshrined into federal law the goal of 
eliminating racial segregation and ending housing discrimination in the United States; 
and     

WHEREAS:  The Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination in housing based on race, color, 
religion, sex, familial status, national origin, and disability, and commits 
recipients for federal funding to affirmatively further fair housing in their 
communities; and  

WHEREAS: The City of Statesboro is committed to the mission and intent of Congress to provide 
fair and equal housing opportunities for all; and   

WHEREAS: Our social fabric, the economy, health, and environment are strengthened in 
diverse, inclusive communities; and  

WHEREAS: More than fifty years after the passage of the Fair Housing Act, discrimination 
persists, and many communities remain segregated; and 

WHEREAS: Acts of housing discrimination and barriers to equal housing opportunity are 
repugnant to a common sense decency and fairness. 

   
 

NOW, THEREFORE I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro do hereby 
proclaim April 2024, as    

 

Fair Housing Month 
 
In the City of Statesboro, as an inclusive community committed to fair housing, and to 
promoting appropriate activities by private and public entities to provide and advocate 
for equal housing opportunities for all residents and prospective residents of Statesboro.  
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the City of 
Statesboro to be affixed this 16th day of April in the year two thousand and twenty-four.  

 
  

______________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor  



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

APRIL 02, 2024 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Dr. John Waters gave the invocation and Councilmember John Riggs led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present  9:20 am  
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Ginny Hendley Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Senior IT Specialist Alan 
Schleder, City Attorney Cain Smith, and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions / Public Presentation: 

A) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing April 2024 as Child Abuse Prevention 
Month.  

Mayor Jonathan McCollar read and presented a proclamation to Lora Cooper, Executive Director or PCA Bulloch, 
recognizing April 2024 as Child Abuse Prevention month. 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): None  
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 03-19-2024 Council Minutes 
B) Consideration of a motion to approve the “surplus” of vehicles in the Statesboro Police 

Department that are past their service life or are not useable.  
 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



2 
 

6. Public hearing, second reading and consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2024-01: 
An Ordinance amending Section 6-7(e) of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances removing 
proximity requirements for on-premises consumption alcohol licenses in a delineated section 
of downtown. 
 

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
John Waters, Lead Pastor at First Baptist Church located at 108 North Main Street in downtown Statesboro came forward 
and expressed his appreciation for Mayor and Council for their work and service to the community thanked city staff for 
the informational meeting they held last Tuesday evening regarding this Ordinance.  
 
No one spoke against the Ordinance.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to approve Ordinance 2024-01: An Ordinance amending Section 6-7(e) of the City of Statesboro 
Code of Ordinances removing proximity requirements for on-premises consumption alcohol licenses in a delineated 
section of downtown. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

3 
 

7. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

Vino 1910 Wine Bar, LLC 
22 West Main Street  
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Bar with Kitchen 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the application.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
A motion was made to approve application for an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol 
ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a) issued to Vino 1910 Wine Bar, LLC located at 22 West Main Street Statesboro, Ga 30458 for 
License Type: Bar with Kitchen. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum joined the meeting.  

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



4 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2024-07: A Resolution requesting approval 
to apply for the Assistance to Firefighter – Fire Prevention and Safety Grant for the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia. 
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2024-07: A Resolution requesting approval to apply for the Assistance to 
Firefighter – Fire Prevention and Safety Grant for the City of Statesboro, Georgia. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2024-08: A Resolution approving the City of 
Statesboro’s proposed amendment of the FY2024 Street Resurfacing Program, and 
authorizing the Mayor to execute the supplemental GDOT Local Maintenance Improvement 
Grant (LMIG). There are no matching funds required.   
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2024-08: A Resolution approving the City of Statesboro’s proposed 
amendment of the FY2024 Street Resurfacing Program, and authorizing the Mayor to execute the supplemental GDOT 
Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG). There are no matching funds required.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to award a contract in the not to exceed amount of $57,775.00 with 
Cranston for professional design services for the Anderson Street pavement project. This 
project will be paid by TSPLOST funds.   

A motion was made to award a contract in the not to exceed amount of $57,775.00 with Cranston for professional design 
services for the Anderson Street pavement project. This project will be paid by TSPLOST funds. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley  

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell 
Engineering, Inc. in the amount not to exceed $49,000.00 to provide design, bid, surveying and 
contract administration services for the extension of 2,250 LF of water main on Broad St. To 
be paid for with funds from operating revenue, approved in CIP Budget Item #WWD-166. 

A motion was made to approve a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering, Inc. in the amount 
not to exceed $49,000.00 to provide design, bid, surveying and contract administration services for the extension of 
2,250 LF of water main on Broad St. To be paid for with funds from operating revenue, approved in CIP Budget Item 
#WWD-166.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve the purchase of a knuckle-boom grapple trash collection 
truck with a 2024 Freightliner M2 Chassis and Pac-Mac body per Source well contract from 
Solid Waste Applied Technology (SWAT) in the amount of $222,000.00. 

A motion was made to approve the purchase of a knuckle-boom grapple trash collection truck with a 2024 Freightliner 
M2 Chassis and Pac-Mac body per Source well contract from Solid Waste Applied Technology (SWAT) in the amount 
of $222,000.00.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve Change Order #1 in the amount of $56,742.00  for the 
Blower and Pump Upgrades Project at the WasteWater Treatment Plant. To be paid for with 
funds included in the project budget #WTP-24, that was approved by council on 8-9-23. 

A motion was made to approve Change Order #1 in the amount of $56,742.00 for the Blower and Pump Upgrades Project 
at the WasteWater Treatment Plant. To be paid for with funds included in the project budget #WTP-24, that was approved 
by council on 8-9-23.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Councilmember Paulette Chavers  

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley  

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

14. Other Business from City Council 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr announced “First Friday” is being held this Friday evening and encouraged people to come 
and join in the festivities.  

 
15. City Managers Comments 

City Manager Charles Penny stated the Downtown Live concert series begins April 18th at 7:00 pm with the Tams. Mr. 
Penny reviewed a couple of items from the FYI packet, first is an annexation memo of a property located on the western 
side of the city on Cypress Lake Road at the intersection of Country Club Road. The second item is a notice of a public 
meeting for the residents of the Ramble Road neighborhood regarding the upcoming Sewer Project. The meeting is set 
for April 9, 2024 at 6 pm in the Council Chambers. The project is to connect Ramble Road properties to the City’s public 
sewer collection system. The meeting will inform the residents of the neighborhood of the sewer project and to answer 
any questions. Lastly Mr. Penny introduced the new Keep Statesboro Bulloch Beautiful Coordinator, Charly Kinship.  
 

16. Public Comments (General):  
Charlotte Spell, the Executive Director of Let’s Be Clear Georgia, which focuses on marijuana prevention education, 
addressed Mayor and council about her concerns with the vape shops, smoke shops, and dispensaries in Statesboro. As 
well as the lack of regulation on the sales of cannabis products making it easily accessible to kids and teenagers.  
 
There was council discussion as to what authority the city may regarding the regulation of these products. City Attorney 
Cain Smith stated with the passing of the 2018 Farm Bill by Congress essentially making legalizing the product Ms. 
Spell is referring to. Any regulatory authority would need to be given by Congress.     
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Real Estate” in 
accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 

 
 
At 9:57 am a motion was made to enter into Executive Session.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Councilmember John Riggs left the meeting during executive session. 
 
At 10:16 am a motion was made to exit Executive Session.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



 

7 
 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the regular meeting back to order with no action taken in executive session.  
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:17 am. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley  

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Hendley, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
To: Mr. Jason Boyles 
      Assistant City Manager 
 
 
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
          Director of Public Utilities 
 
Date:  04-10-2024 
 
RE: Surplus and Disposition of Assets  
 
Policy Issue: Council Approval to dispose of Vehicles & Equipment in 
accordance with City Purchasing Policy Section 3. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a Motion to approve for Surplus and 
Disposition of the following item: 

** 1997 Ford F350 (1FDJF37H9VEB54227) 
 

 
Background: The staff in Public Utilities has determined the equipment listed 
above has exceeded its useful life. 
 
Budget Impact: Small increase from sale of items. 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: None 
 

 

 City of Statesboro 
Public Utilities Department  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  
 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: April 3, 2024 

 

RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommends Approval of the 

Zoning Map Amendment requested by RZ 24-03-01.  

 

Background: Nikira Boggs requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the LI (Light 

Industrial) zoning district to the MX (Mixed-Use) zoning district on approximately 

0.31 acres of property in order develop a walk-up restaurant at 193 West Main 

Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000178 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Chavers (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (RZ 24-03-01) 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 24-03-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

193 WEST MAIN STREET 

LOCATION: 193 West Main Street  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

LI (Light Industrial) 

ACRES: 0.31 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S18 000178 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 2 (Chavers) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Abandoned Restaurant 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Restaurant 

PETITIONER                 Nikira Boggs 

ADDRESS                     1507 Riggs Mill Court; Statesboro GA, 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     SAME AS ABOVE 

ADDRESS                    SAME AS ABOVE  

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a Zoning Map Amendment on a 0.31 acre parcel in order redevelop an 
existing building for a walk up restaurant at 193 West Main Street.  

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 24-03-01 - CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

 



Page 3 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

  



Page 4 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

 



Page 5 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1  LI (Light Industrial) City Building 

Northeast Location Area #2   LI (Light Industrial) Convenience Store 

East Location Area #3:  LI (Light Industrial) Ellis Meat Market 

North West  Location Area #4:  LI (Light Industrial) Barbershop 

Southeast Location Area #5:  LI (Light Industrial) Post Office 

South Location Area #6   MX (Mixed-Use) Mechanic Shop (Soon to be 
exercise facility) 

Southwest Location Area #7:  LI (Light Industrial) Habitat for Humanity 

West Location Area #8:  LI (Light Industrial) Convenience Store 



Page 6 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site consists of approximately 0.31 acre lot with an old restaurant on it. The 
former Statesboro Zoning Ordinance allowed for restaurant uses in the Light Industrial 
zoning district, but with the adoption of the Statesboro Unified Development Code, Light 
Industrial uses were streamlined to ensure that compatibility would make sense for 
surrounding zoning. The area surrounding the property does not represent true Light 
Industrial uses, and the property no longer retains grandfathered status as a restaurant as 
it was not in use for a number of years. 

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the “Residential Redevelopment” character area, which calls for “Single-Family 
detached and Lower Density Single-Family Attached Housing.” 

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

There are no listed wetlands on the site, but the property is in the Floodway. As this building 
already exist, there are no environmental impacts expected by the reuse of the building. 
Any changes to the existing footprint and general site of the building will need extensive 
review by the Department of Engineering.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject site is already served by City Utilities. The primary concern on the restaurant 
is the existing parking, which can easily be resolved through an agreement with the 
surrounding property owners. In addition, the intent of the applicant is to primarily have a 
walk-up restaurant which should not cause extended stays on the site by patrons.  

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Unified Development Code permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.” 

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties.  Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The use is appropriate for the area, as the primary development area is of a 
commercial retail nature. The existing UDC removed the originally 
approvable restaurant use on the site, which requires that the site be 
rezoned to ensure compatibility with the current ordinance, as the last 
business operating on the site was more than one year age.  

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 

 It is highly unlikely that this development would cause issues with the 
surrounding properties and their associated development and usability.  



Page 7 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

3. Does the property to be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as currently 
zoned? 

 The property could not operate with the current zoning and traditional Light 
Industrial uses would cause for likely demolishment of the building. The 
floodway itself would present additional issues for redevelopment, leaving 
rezoning as the best potential option for the applicant.  

4. Will the zoning proposal result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities or schools? 

 The parking element, which has been discussed via right start meeting would 
be the only potential issue, and the Department of Engineering has planned 
road improvements to the area to prevent further issues on the existing 
roadway.  

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either approval 
or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

 The proposed change does not conflict with the existing development of the 
area, although the comprehensive plan shows a lack of compatible uses. 
The revision to the Comprehensive Plan will resolve the character issue in 
the area, and better align with the currently existing development patterns in 
the area.  

6. Does the zoning proposal conform to the Long Range Land Use Plan of the 
Municipality? 

 The proposed use is inconsistent with the subject site’s character area 
(“Residential Redevelopment Area”) as stated in the 2019 – 2029 
Comprehensive Master Plan. In regards to this, the Comprehensive Plan 
does not appropriately represent the existing uses in the area, and future 
revisions will update the uses associated with this and other areas adjacent 
to the Downtown.  

  



Page 8 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

Subject Property 

 

Eastern Property  

 

 

 



Page 9 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

Western Property 

 

Southern Property 

 

 

 



Page 10 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-01 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of RZ 24-03-01. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Zoning Map Amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
site without approval. All construction must be approved by the City.   

At the regularly scheduled meeting of The Planning Commission on April 2, 2024, the 
Commission recommended approval of the request and staff conditions with a 6-1 vote.  

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  
 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: April 3, 2024 

 

RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Preliminary Subdivision PLAT 

 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommends Approval of the 

Preliminary Subdivision PLAT requested by SUB 24-03-02.  

 

Background: Simcoe Investment Group, LLC requests a Preliminary Subdivision 

PLAT on approximately 26.32 acres of property in order to construct 152 

townhome units on Jones Mill Road (Tax Parcel # MS84000002 001). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Barr (District 5) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (SUB 24-03-02) 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 SUB 24-03-02 

PRELIMINARY SUBDIVISION REQUEST 

JONES MILL ROAD 

LOCATION: Jones Mill Road  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-2 (Townhouse Residential) 

ACRES: 26.32 Acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS84 000002 001 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 5 (Barr) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant Land 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Townhouse Subdivision 

PETITIONER                 Simcoe Investment Group 

ADDRESS                     P.O. Box 1247; Richmond Hill, GA 31324 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Clay Price 

ADDRESS                    SAME AS ABOVE 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a preliminary subdivision of approximately 26.32 acres of property to 
develop a 152 unit townhome development.   

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

SUB 24-03-02 – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

 



Page 3 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

  



Page 4 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

 



Page 5 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1 R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Vacant 

Northeast Location Area #2:  R-15 (Single-Density Residential) Vacant 

East Location Area #3:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

North West  Location Area #4:  MX (Mixed Use) Vacant 

Southeast Location Area #5:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

South Location Area #7:  R-5 (Single-Family Residential) Vacant 

Southwest Location Area #8:  MX (Mixed Use) Vacant 

West Location Area #9: MX (Mixed Use) Vacant 



Page 6 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site consists of a 26.32 acres of property with substantial woods and ponds on 
the site. The property is currently being timbered and prepared for full development as all 
plans have been approved regarding the property. In accordance with the conditions of the 
Zoning App Amendment for this project, no individual lot may be developed until completion 
of the subdivision PLAT.  

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the “Established Residential Neighborhood” character area, which is generally 
intended for small-lot single-family residential and neighborhood scale retail and 
commercial development.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The property does contain wetlands, but the proposed development has been approved for 
the minor disturbances as needed to install the development infrastructure.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

This site has access to City of Statesboro utilities but will require some extension in 
order to meet necessary standards for the development. .  



Page 7 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

Subject Property 

 

Northern Property 

 



Page 8 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

Northwestern Property  

 

Northeastern Property 

 



Page 9 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

Preliminary Plat 

 

 



Page 10 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case SUB 24-03-02 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of SUB 24-03-02. If this petition is approved by the Mayor 
and City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following 
enumerated condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Preliminary Subdivision PLAT does not grant the right to develop on 
the issuance of individual building permits. All buildings must be approved by the City.   

(2) The final plat must meet all recording requirements of the Unified Development Code 
before any units may be sold in the subdivision. 

 
At the regularly scheduled meeting of The Planning Commission on April 2, 2024, the 
Commission recommended approval of the request and staff conditions with a 7-0 vote 
 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  
 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: April 3, 2024 

 

RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommends Approval of the 

Zoning Map Amendment requested by RZ 24-03-03.  

 

Background: Ogeechee Area Hospice requests a Zoning Map Amendment from 

the O/R-15 (Office and Business/Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the O 

(Office & Business) Zoning District on approximately 0.49 acres of property in 

order develop an expansion to the existing hospice business at 1001 East Inman 

Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000178 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Hendley (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04) 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  
 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: April 3, 2024 

 

RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommends Approval of the 

Variance requested by V 24-03-04.  

 

Background: Ogeechee Area Hospice requests a Variance from the setback 

requirements of Section 2.3.3 – Dimensional Standards of the Unified 

Development Code, in order to construct a proposed hospice accessory 

building at 1001 East Inman Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000178 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Hendley (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04) 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

1001 EAST INMAN STREET 

LOCATION: 1001 East Inman Street  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

O/R-15 (Office & Business/Single-
Family Residential) 

ACRES: 0.49 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S52 000071 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 3 (Hendley) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Hospice Care Family Center 

PETITIONER                 Ogeechee Area Hospice 

ADDRESS                     200 Donehoo Street; Statesboro GA, 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Clark O’Barr 

ADDRESS                    40 Joe Kennedy Blvd; Statesboro GA, 30458  

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a Zoning Map Amendment to the existing split zoned O/R-15 (Office & 
Business/Single-Family Residential) property in order to establish an accessory overnight stay 
location for the existing Hospice. In addition, the applicant request a variance from Section 2.3.3 
(Setbacks) of the Unified Development Code in order to place the building on site.  

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 - CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1  O (Office & Business) Ogeechee Area Hospice 

Northeast Location Area #2   O (Office & Business) Ogeechee Area Hospice 

East Location Area #3:  O (Office & Business) Single-Family Dwelling 

North West  Location Area #4:  O (Office & Business) Ogeechee Area Hospice 

Southeast Location Area #5:  O (Office & Business) Single-Family Dwelling 

South Location Area #6  R-15 (Single-Density Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #7:   O (Office & Business) Single-Family Dwelling 

West Location Area #8:   O (Office & Business) Business Office 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site consists of approximately 0.49 acres of property adjacent to the existing 
Ogeechee Area Hospice. The applicant intends to zone the site in alignment with the 
existing hospice in order to develop an expansion of the operation for families visiting 
relatives in the facility. In order to place the building, the project requires that the applicant 
be granted a variance of approximately 10 feet on the side setback as depicted on the 
provided site plan.   

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the “Established Residential” character area, which calls for “Neighborhood scale 
retail and commercial, neighborhood services, and small-lot single-family residential.”  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

There are no wetlands or special flood plains on the property.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject site may be served by City Utilities, and as shown in the site plan will require 
some adjustment of the existing street network for ingress and egress. 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Unified Development Code permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.” 

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties.  Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The use is appropriate for the area, and the zoning specifically clears an 
issue of a lot being improperly zoned. 

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 

 It is highly unlikely that this development would cause issues with the 
surrounding properties and their associated development and usability. This 
is an addition to the existing use, and architectural standards should reflect 
the overall neighborhood area.  

3. Does the property to be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as currently 
zoned? 

 The property could not reasonably be developed in its current state, as the 
surrounding areas  

4. Will the zoning proposal result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities or schools? 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

 The property would not have significant impacts to existing streets as the 
occupancy would be fairly low. 

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either approval 
or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

 There should be no adverse impacts regarding the development of the 
property and the use of the property should provide significant improvement 
to the operations of the existing hospice facility.  

6. Does the zoning proposal conform to the Long Range Land Use Plan of the 
Municipality? 

 The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s character area 
(“Established Residential Neighborhood”) as stated in the 2019 – 2029 
Comprehensive Master Plan.  

 

ZONING VARIANCE STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

In addition to the noted standards of review for Zoning Map Amendments, Zoning 
Variances considered by the Mayor and Council should if they are “in the public interest, 
observe the spirit of the ordinance,” and should consider the following: 

1. Do the special conditions and circumstances result from the actions of the 
applicant; 

 The location is limited in size, but the existing corner of Inman and 
Granade Street must provide sufficient distance from the intersection. 

2. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would 
create an unnecessary hardship; and 

 Adherence of the ordinance in this matter would make the parking area 
inaccessible due to the proximity of the property to the building.  

3. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or 
impair the purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 

 Development of the property and granting of the variance would not cause 
any detriment to the public.  

  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

 

Subject Property 

 

Eastern Property  

 

 

 

 



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

Northern Property 

 

Western Property 

 

 

 

 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

Proposed Site Plan 

 

 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of RZ 24-03-03 & V 24-03-04. If this petition is approved by 
the Mayor and City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the 
following enumerated condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Zoning Map Amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
site without approval. All construction must be approved by the City.   

At the regularly scheduled meeting of The Planning Commission on April 2, 2024, the 
Commission recommended approval of both requests and staff conditions with a 7-0 vote 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence   Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone: (912) 764-5468  Fax: (912) 764-4691 

www.statesboroga.gov 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

Date: April 3, 2024 

RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommends Approval of the 

Zoning Map Amendment requested by RZ 24-03-05.  

Background: Burbank Pointe, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the 

R-15 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the R-6 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district on approximately 0.32 acres of property in order 
develop an infill cottage court 231 East Main Street (Tax Parcel # S39 000054 
000).

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1) 

Attachments: Development Services Report (RZ 24-03-05) 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 24-03-05 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

231 EAST MAIN STREET 

LOCATION: 231 East Main Street  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-15 (Single-Family Residential) 

ACRES: 0.32 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S39 000054 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 1 (Boyum) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Produce Stand  

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Cottage Court 

PETITIONER                 Burbank Point, LLC 

ADDRESS                     1207 Monarch Circle; Statesboro, GA 30461 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Same As Above 

ADDRESS                    SAME AS ABOVE  

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a Zoning Map Amendment on 0.32 acres of property in order to develop an 
infill cottage court at 231 East Main Street.   

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 24-03-05 - CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1  R-6 (Single Family Residential) Residential Lot (Under 
Development) 

Northeast Location Area #2   MX (Mixed-Use) Shopping Center 

East Location Area #3: MX (Mixed-Use) Hair Salon 

North West  Location Area #4:  R-6 (Single Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Southeast Location Area #5:  MX (Mixed-Use) Hair Salon 

South Location Area #6  R-4 (High-Density Residential) Vacant Land 

Southwest Location Area #7:  R-4 (High-Density Residential) Vacant Lot (Development 
Pending) 

West Location Area #8:  R-15 (Single-Density Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site consists of approximately 0.32 acres of property, which currently has a 
defunct produce stand. The applicant intends to develop the property as a cottage court to 
allow for a residential corridor on East Main Street to complement the existing surrounding 
residential, but current R-15 zoning does not allow for small scale development. Approval 
of the development will restrict additional cottage court development on the existing block 
face.   

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the “Neighborhood Center” character area, which calls for a “single-family residential 
and medium density residential development”  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

There are no wetlands, floodplains, or special flood areas on the site. Special care should 
be taken to ensure that appropriate draining may be installed to reduce the impact of the 
impervious pavement on the site.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject site may be served by City Utilities as the area already has sufficient 
connections for sewer and water. It is recommended that traffic in the area be analyzed for 
the possibility of shifting the parking to focus entry to the site onto N Gordon Street.   

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Unified Development Code permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.” 

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties.  Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The use is appropriate for the area, as the developing area of the City has a 
substantial amount of proposed redevelopment to include both townhomes 
and traditional single family lots. 

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property? 

 At this time, it is unknown how the development would impact the 
surrounding properties, as this development type has not been historically 
utilized in the City of Statesboro. By removing the defunct use located at the 
address now, it is likely that the values would increase for surrounding 
properties. 

3. Does the property to be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as currently 
zoned? 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

 The property could be developed with its current zoning as a single-family 
home, although the existing produce stand is considered a grandfathered 
use, and future commercial development would not be allowed on the site. 

4. Will the zoning proposal result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 
burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities or schools? 

 As per the recommendation of the Engineering Department, consideration 
should be made to ensure that additional or alternative egress is placed on 
the site.  

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either approval 
or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

 The proposed change does not conflict with the existing development of the 
area, as a number of developments are currently under consideration and 
development in the Southern Gordon Street area, as well as the existing 
block face in the area.  

6. Does the zoning proposal conform to the Long Range Land Use Plan of the 
Municipality? 

 The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s character area 
(“Neighborhood Center”) as stated in the 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive 
Master Plan.  

  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

Subject Property 

 

Eastern Property  

 



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

Western Property 

 

Southern Property 

 

 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

Preliminary Site Plan 

 

 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-03-05 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of RZ 24-03-05. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this Zoning Map Amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
site without approval. All construction must be approved by the City.   

(2) All cottage court developments must meet the requirements of Section 2.4.2 of the 
Statesboro Unified Development Code. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting of The Planning Commission on April 2, 2024, the 
Commission recommended approval of the request and staff conditions with a 7-0 vote 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: April 10, 2024 
 
RE: Azul Tex-Mex Express LLC 
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Ginny Hendley, District 3 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 



















Azul Tex-Mex Express LLC 
Lorena Cisneros 
408 S. Main St. 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 02-23-2024. This location is zoned HOC. 
HOC is a permissible zoning area for alcohol.  

Fire Department Justin 
Taylor 

Approved Approval is for the alcohol request to be 
brought before City Council only. Alcohol 
license will only be approved when the 

business receives a passing fire inspection. 
4/10/2024  

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved  

Legal Cain Smith Approved  

    

 
 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

 
  

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

   

 

 

  

   

   

  
 

 

  

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348
  STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348

To:  Charles Penny,  City Manager and  Leah Harden, City Clerk

From:  Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator

Date:  April 3, 2024

RE: April 16, 2024  City Council Agenda  Items

Policy Issue:  Transmittal Letter  -  Comprehensive  Plan

Recommendation:  Staff request transmittal of the Comprehensive Plan  to the 
Coastal Regional Commission for the 40 day comment and review period.

Background:  After a series of public meetings, stakeholder meetings and 
technical advisory review, Staff recommends transmittal of the drafted 
Statesboro Comprehensive Plan to the Coastal Regional Commission to begin

official review prior to final adoption.

Budget Impact: None

Council Person and District:  All

Attachments:  Resolution to Transmit  Statesboro Comprehensive Plan

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 
Resolution 2024-09: A RESOLUTION TO TRANSMIT THE 2024-2029 COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN TO THE COASTAL REGIONAL COMMISSION 
 
 

WHEREAS, The Department of Community Affairs requires communities to update Comprehensive Plans 
every five years; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro, having properly advertised and provided public opportunities for input into 
the contents of the updated plan with required public hearings held on December 5, 2023 and April 16, 2024; 
and, 
 
WHEREAS, this document was prepared according to the Minimum Standards and Procedures for Local 
Comprehensive Planning effective March 31, 2014 and established by the Georgia Planning Act of 1989; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia that the City does 
hereby transmit the 2024-2029 Comprehensive Plan to the Coastal Regional Commission for official review. 
 

Adopted this 16th day of April, 2024. CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Robin Demshar Records Manager 
 
Date: April 10, 2024 
 
RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: OCGA 50-18-90, et. seq., known as the "Georgia Records Act" 
requires that all public records be retained for a specified period set out in an 
adopted records retention schedule, with such records only being destroyed if 
the holding period has been met as adopted by Council on April 18, 1995. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2024-10: A 
Resolution authorizing the destruction of certain Municipal Records 
 
Background: N/A 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Resolution 2024-10 



 
 

RESOLUTION 2024- 10: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE 
DESTRUCTION OF CERTAIN MUNICIPAL RECORDS 

 
 

THAT WHEREAS, OCGA 50-18-90, et. seq., known as the "Georgia Records Act" 
requires that all public records be retained for a specified period set out in an adopted 
records retention schedule, with such records only being destroyed if the holding period has 
been met; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Clerk is the city official in charge of maintaining said records, 

and recommending their destruction when the required holding period has been met; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified public records noted in the attachments to this 
resolution have been retained and available for the required retention period, and are no longer 
needed by the City, and therefore has recommended that they be destroyed; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of The 

City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 

Section 1. That the public records listed on the attachments to the Resolution, which said 
attachments are hereby incorporated into this Resolution as if fully set forth in  the 
Resolution, are hereby authorized for destruction and are required to be destroyed  by the 
City Clerk in a manner consistent with state law. 

 
Section 2. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of 
adoption. 

 
Adopted this 16th day of April, 2024. 

 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

























CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: City Manager Charles Penny  

From: Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Date: 04-10-2024 

RE: GMA’s Re-Certification for the Certified Ethics Program 

Policy Issue: The City of Statesboro is scheduled to re-certify in June 2024 as a member in GMA’s 
Ethics Program. A letter requesting approval to re-certify in the Ethics Program and a Resolution 
re-adopting the five Ethics Principals is due to GMA by April 30, 2024. 

Recommendation: Mayor and Council approve a Resolution re-adopting the five Ethics 
Principals. 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: Resolution 2024-11



Resolution 2024-11: 

A Resolution for the City of Statesboro to remain a Georgia Certified City of Ethics 

WHEREAS: the board of directors of the Georgia Municipal Association has established a certified 

City of Ethics Program and; 

WHEREAS: The City of Statesboro, wishes to be certified as a Certified City of Ethics under the GMA 

Program and; 

WHEREAS: part of the certification process requires the Mayor and Council to subscribe to the 

ethics principles approved by the GMA board; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: by the governing authority of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, that as 
a group and as individuals the governing authority subscribes to the following ethics principles and 
pledges to conduce its affairs accordingly: 

 Serve Others, Not Ourselves

 Use Resources with Efficiency and Economy

 Treat all People Fairly

 Use the Power of Our Position for the Well Being of our Constituents

 Create an Environment of Honesty, Openness and Integrity

RESOLVED this 16th day of April 2024 

________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mayor, Jonathan McCollar Councilmember Phil Boyum 

________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Councilmember Paulette Chavers Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

_______________________________ ______________________________________ 
Councilmember John Riggs Councilmember Shari Barr 

 ______________________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: April 10, 2024 
 
RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of recodification of Chapter 38 Article IV Noise 
 
Recommendation: Waive formalities under Section 2-2-4 and approve 
 
Background: During codification of the UDC, Article IV was inadvertently 
removed from Chapter 38. Currently the City has no Noise ordinance. Proposed 
Article is identical to removed Article. 

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Preexisting Article IV 



ORDINANCE 2024-02: 

CHAPTER 38: ENVIRONMENT  

ARTICLE IV. NOISE 

Sec. 38-101.  Definitions. 

The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation and enforcement of this article; unless otherwise 
specifically stated: 

Ambient Sound Level Any noise associated with a given environment, exclusive of a particular 
noise being tested, being usually a composite of sounds from many sources near and far, exclusive of 
intruding noises from isolated identifiable sources. 

Construction. Any site preparation, assembly, erection, substantial repair, alteration, or similar 
action, for or of public or private rights-of-way, structures, utilities or similar property. 

Demolition. Any dismantling, intentional destruction or removal of structures, utilities, public or 
private right-of-way surfaces, or similar property. 

Emergency. Any occurrence or set of circumstances involving actual or imminent physical or 
psychological trauma or property damage which demands immediate action. 

Emergency Work. Any work performed for the purpose of alleviating or resolving an emergency. 

Impulsive Sound. Sound of short duration, usually less than one second, with an abrupt onset and 
rapid decay. Examples of sources of impulsive sound include explosions, drop forge impacts, and the 
discharge of firearms. 

Noise. Any sound which disturbs humans or which causes or tends to cause an adverse 
psychological or physiological effect on humans. 

Noise Disturbance. Any sound which endangers or injures the welfare, safety or health of human 
being, or disturbs a reasonable person of normal sensitivities, or devalues or injures personal or real 
property, or as herein after defined. 

Noise Sensitive Activities. Activities which should be 9onducted under conditions of exceptional 
quiet including, but not limited to, operation of schools, libraries open to the public, churches, hospitals, 
and nursing homes. 

Noise Sensitive Area. Any area designated for the purpose of ensuring exceptional quiet and 
clearly posted with "Noise Sensitive Area" signs, because of the noise sensitive activities conducted 
therein. 

Person. Any individual, partnership, firm, association, joint venture, public or private corporation, 
trust, estate, commission, board, public or private institution, utility, operative, State agency, municipality 
or other political subdivisions of this State, any interstate body, or any other legal entity. 

Public Right-of-Way. Any street, avenue, boulevard, highway, sidewalk, or lane or similar place 
which is owned or controlled by a governmental entity. 



Public Space. Any real property, including any structure thereon, which is owned or controlled by 
a governmental entity. 

Real Property Boundary. An imaginary line along the ground surface, and its vertical extension, 
which separates the real property owned by one person from that owned by another person, but not 
including intra-building real property divisions. 

Receiving Land Use. The use or occupancy of the property which receives the transmission of 
sound as hereinafter defined. 

Residential. Any property on which is located a building or structure used wholly or partially for 
living or sleeping purposes. 

Sound. An oscillation in pressure, particle displacement, particle velocity or other physical 
parameter, in a medium with internal forces that cause compression and rarefaction of that medium. The 
description of sound may include any characteristic of such sound, including duration, intensity and 
frequency. 

Used or Occupied. Either word shall be deemed to include the words "intended, designed, or 
arranged to be used or occupied." 

 

Sec. 38-102.  Prohibited Generally 

It shall be unlawful for any person to make, continue, or cause to be made or continued any 
excessive, unnecessary or unusually loud noise or any noise which either annoys, disturbs, injuries or 
endangers the comfort, repose, health, peace or safety of others, within the limits of the city. 

 

Sec. 38-103.  Specific Prohibitions 

The following acts, among others, are declared to be loud, disturbing and unnecessary noises in 
violation of this chapter, but said enumeration shall not be deemed to be exclusive, namely: 

(1) Horns, Signaling Devices, etc. The sounding of any horn or signal device on any automobile,  
motorcycle, bus, or other vehicle, except as a danger signal, so as to create any 
unreasonable loud or harsh sound, or the sounding of such device for an unreasonable 
period of time, or the use of any siren upon any vehicle, other than police, fire or other 
emergency vehicle or equipment. 

(2) Radios, phonographs, etc. The using, operating, or permitting to be played, used or 
operated any radio receiving set, musical instrument, phonograph, or other machine or 
device for the producing or reproducing of sound in such manner as to disturb the peace, 
quiet and comfort of the neighboring inhabitants or at any time with louder volume than is 
necessary for convenient hearing for the person or persons who are in the room, vehicle or 
chamber in which such machine or device is operated and who are voluntary listeners 
thereto. The operation of any such set, instrument, phonograph, machine or device in such 
a manner as to be plainly audible at distance of fifty (50) feet from the building, structure or 
vehicle in which it is located shall be prima facie evidence of a violation of this section. 



(3) Loudspeakers, amplifiers for advertising. The using, operating or permitting to be played, 
used, or operated of any radio receiving set musical instrument, phonograph, loudspeaker, 
sound amplifier, or other machine or device for the producing or reproducing of sound 
which is cast upon the public streets for the purpose of commercial advertising or attracting 
the attention of the public to any building or structure 

(4) Sales by "hawking’ or "barking". No person shall offer for sale or sell anything by shouting or 
outcry within any residential or business area unless authorized by the City of Statesboro. 

(5) Regulation of Sound Equipment and Sound Amplifying Equipment. 
a. Except for activities for which a permit has been issued by the city under this section, no 

person shall so operate, play or permit the operation or playing of any radio, television, 
or phonograph, amplifier, or loud speaker, or similar device so as to; 

(i) Create a noise disturbance across a real property boundary or within a 
noise sensitive area. Provided, however, bars, taverns, lounges, night 
clubs, dance halls, game rooms and similar activities which produce a 
noise that is plainly audible beyond the premises shall be deemed a noise 
disturbance in violation of this article; 

(ii) Create a noise which is plainly audible to any person other than the 
operator of the device, when operated on a common carrier, or public 
right-of-way or public place or space. 

b. Sound Equipment Permitted. Except as hereafter provided, no person shall use, operate 
or cause to be used or operated any radio, record player, tape deck or player, loud 
speaker, amplifier, sound truck or other device or producing, reproducing, or amplifying 
sounds, hereinafter referred to as "sound equipment", upon the public streets or in any 
building or upon any premises, public or private,-so as to produce a noise disturbance. 
Provided, however, the following activities where authorized by the City of Statesboro 
may use sound equipment which produces a sound not to exceed 90 dB(A)'s when 
measured at a distance of 50 feet from such equipment Where the receiving land is 
residential such equipment may be used only from 9:00 A.M. to 11:00 P.M. 

(i) Public health and safety purposes; 
(ii) Fairs, carnivals and similar activities; 

(iii) Parades, processions, excursions and associated festivities; 
(iv) Outdoor - concerts and theatrical performances; 
(v) Outdoor neighborhood functions such as lawn and pool parties, street 

dances and similar activities; 
(vi) Civic and  religious celebrations; 

(vii) Recreational and athletic activities. 
(6) Animals and Birds. No person shall own, possess or harbor any animal or fowl which howls, 

barks, or emits audible sounds that are unreason ably loud or disturbing and which are of such 
character, intensity, and duration as to disturb the peace and quiet of the neighborhood. For 
the purposes of this ordinance, barking dog is defined as: a dog that barks, bays, cries, howls, 
or makes any other makes any other noise to create a nuisance to any person at any time of 
day or night regardless of whether the dog is physically situated in or upon private property. 

(7) Loading and Unloading. No person shall so load, unload, open, close or handle boxes, crates, 
containers, building materials, refuse, garbage cans,- motor vehicles, or similar objects 



between the hours of 8:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. the following day as to create a noise 
disturbance across a residential real property boundary or within a noise of sensitive area. 

(8) Construction or Repairing of Buildings. The erection (including excavation), demolition, 
alteration or repair of any building other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. 
on week days, except in case of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety, 
and then only with a permit from the building official, which permit may be granted for a 
period not to exceed three (3) days or less while the emergency continues and which permit 
may be renewed for periods of three (3) days or less while the emergency continues. 
 
If the building official should determine that the public health and safety will not be impaired 
by the erection, demolition, alteration or repair of any building or the excavation of streets 
and highways within the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., and if he shall further determine 
that loss or inconvenience would result to any party in interest if such work were to be 
prohibited, he may grant permission for such work to be done within the hours of 6:00 p.m. 
and 7:00 a.m., upon application being made at the time the permit for the work is awarded 
or during the progress of the work. 
 

(9) Schools, Courts, Churches, Hospitals. The creation of any excessive noise on any street 
adjacent to any school, institution of learning, church or court which the same are in use, or 
adjacent to any hospital which unreasonably interferes with the workings of such institution, 
or which disturbs or unduly annoys patients in the hospital, provided conspicuous signs are 
displayed in such streets indicating that the same is a school, hospital or court street. 

 

(10) Pile drivers, Hammers, etc. The operation between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. of 
any pile driver, steam shovel, pneumatic hammer, derrick, steam or electric hoist or other 
appliance, the use of which is attended by loud or unusual noise. 

 

Sec. 38-104. Exceptions 

The provisions of this ordinance shall not apply to: 

(1) The emission of sound for the purpose of alerting persons to the existence of an emergency. 
(2) The emission of sound in the performance of emergency work. 
(3) Agricultural activities, exclusive of those involving the ownership or possession of animals or birds. 
(4) Rail and air transportation and public mass transportation vehicles. 
(5) Church or clock carillons, bells or chimes. 
(6) The emission of sound in the discharge of weapons or in fireworks displays for which a permit has 

been issued. 
(7) Emergency work or repair work by Governmental entries and Public initiative. 
(8) The emission of sound in the sounding the car horn by a mobile telephone. 

Sec. 38-105. Permit to Exceed 



(a) Generally. A person or group of persons shall be exempt from the provisions of Section III. 
hereof upon obtaining a "Permit to Exceed" from the City. 

(b) Action by the Police Chief. The Police Chief or his/her designee shall act upon all applications for 
Permits to Exceed. In considering and acting upon such application, the Police Chief shall consider, but 
shall not be limited to, the following: 

(1) The nature of the requested activity; 
(2) The previous experience with the applicant; 
(3) The time of the event; 
(4) Other activities in the vicinity of the proposed location; 
(5) The cultural or social benefits of the proposed activity; 
(6) The effect of the activity on any adjacent residential property. 

 

(c) Application and Permit Fee. An application for a Permit to Exceed must be submitted to the 
City at least 48 hours prior to the event for which such permit is needed. A fee in' the amount of $15.00 
must be paid at the time the application is submitted. 

(d) Security Deposit. A deposit in the amount of One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) must be paid at 
the time an application for a Permit to Exceed is submitted. The purpose of this deposit is to secure the 
performance of the party requesting the Permit to Exceed. Upon the satisfaction of all of the conditions 
of the Permit to Exceed, said deposit shall be immediately refunded to the applicant. 

(e) Conditions of Permits. A Permit to Exceed shall specify the date, time period and location to 
which it applies. The Permit shall also prescribe the conditions necessary to minimize the adverse effects 
the event may have upon the community or surrounding neighborhoods. The Police Chief may require, 
but shall not be limited to, the following conditions: 

(1) No sound speakers shall be set up more than 10 feet off the ground 
(2) That permit holders change the arrangement of the amplifying equipment or sound 

instruments upon the request of the Statesboro Police Department so as to minimize the 
disturbance to others resulting from the position or orientation of said amplifying 
equipment; 

(3) Adequate provisions to insure the proper cleanup of any litter resulting from the event 
for which the Permit to Exceed was obtained; 

(4) If over 50 people attend the event for which the Permit to Exceed was obtained, adequate 
private security shall be provided for the purpose of crowd and traffic control. The 
adequacy of such private security shall be determined by the Statesboro Police 
Department. 

(f) Limit on Permits. Permits to Exceed shall be subject to the following limitations: 

(1) Permits will only be granted for temporary purposes not to exceed eight continuous hours 
in any one time period; 



(2) No more than two permits shall be allowed per address (person or group of persons) 
during any six-month period. January 1 through June 30 shall constitute one six-month 
period. July 1 through December 31 shall constitute the second six-month period; 

(3) No permit shall be granted for the time period between 1:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m. 

(g) Cooperation. Permit holder(s) shall agree to cooperate with the Statesboro Police Department 
in enforcing the Noise Ordinance by having the signer(s) of the Permit available at the site of the event 
during the entire time period for which a permit has been issued and capable of assisting the Police in 
enforcing the Noise Ordinance. 

(h) Enforcement. The permit to exceed shall be revoked and the security deposit forfeited if: 

(1) The signer(s) of the Permit fails to be present during the entire time period for which the 
Permit has been issued; or 

(2) The signer(s) of the Permit fails to assist the Police in enforcing this Ordinance; or 
(3) The Signer(s) of the Permit fails to comply with any of the conditions of the Permit to 

Exceed. 

(i) Effect of permit revocation. Once the Permit to Exceed has been revoked, the person or group 
of persons that obtained the permit shall no longer be exempt from the provisions of section 38-103. 

(j) Limitation on Section 38-105. The provisions of this section apply only when a person or group 
of persons has obtained a permit to exceed, and only on the date and during the time period set forth in 
such permit. The provisions of section 38-103 apply at other times.  

 

Sec. 38-106.  Enforcement. 

Any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of this Ordinance shall upon conviction be 
guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by a fine of no less than Fifty Dollars ($50.00) or imprisoned 
for not less than Ten (10) days. Each and every day a violation continues shall be deemed a separate 
offense. 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 

Date: April 10, 2024 

RE: April 16, 2024 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: Consideration of 50 year ground lease with The Food Bank, Inc. for 
3.75 acres located at the intersection of Northside Drive and Miller Street 

Recommendation: Approval 

Background: Subject property was purchased with City and County ARPA funds 
for purposes of operation of a food bank. Rent will not be due as long as 
property is used for this purpose. 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Attachments: Proposed lease 



 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF BULLOCH 

 

GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

 This GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

________ day of _________________ 2024, by and between the CITY OF STATESBORO, 

GEORGIA, a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia (the “Lessor”) and THE FOOD 

BANK, INC., a Georgia nonprofit corporation (the “Tenant”), collectively referred to as the 

Parties, for ground space located within the city limits of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, as more 

particularly described herein below.  

 

Recitals 
 

 WHEREAS, on or about June 21, 2022, Lessor entered into an Intergovernmental 

Agreement (the “IGA”) with Bulloch County, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia (the 

“County”), for each party to contribute funds received from the American Rescue Plan Act 

(“ARPA”) for the acquisition of certain real property and contribution toward the construction of 

improvements thereon to the benefit of Tenant (see copy of IGA attached hereto marked Exhibit 

A); and 

 

 WHEREAS, concurrently with the above-referenced IGA, Lessor, Tenant, and the County 

entered into a “Food Bank ARPA Assistance Memorandum of Understanding” (the “MOU”) 

regarding the acquisition and construction of a new food bank facility (see copy of MOU attached 

hereto marked Exhibit B); and 

 

 WHEREAS, on or about June 27, 2022, Lessor closed on its acquisition of certain real 

property totaling 3.75 acres (163,350 square feet), more or less, located in the city limits of the 

City of Statesboro, Georgia, and situated north of Miller Street, east of Northside Drive (Highway 

80), and west of Parrish Street, with assigned Bulloch County Tax Assessor Parcel Number S07 

000005 000, and being more particularly described in Exhibit C, attached hereto and by this 

reference incorporated herein (the “Premises”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Lessor, pursuant to its Charter, Section 1-2, is empowered and authorized to 

use, manage and improve, rent or lease its real property. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual terms and conditions contained in 

this Agreement and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the Parties do hereby agree as follows: 

 

1. Leased Premises. 
 

A. Agreement to Lease Premises. Lessor hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby 

leases from Lessor the Premises for the purposes set forth in this Agreement. Tenant agrees to 

accept the Premises “as is,” and Lessor makes no warranty as to the condition of the Premises or 

its suitability for any particular purpose. 



2 

B. Purpose of Agreement.  Tenant agrees that it shall use the Premises only for the

operation of a local food bank or food pantry (and for no other purposes). Tenant shall make 

improvements on the Premises in furtherance thereof, subject to the terms and conditions as herein 

stated. The Parties understand that by operating a food pantry, the Tenant will undertake operations 

whereby food is available and distributed to needy individuals.  

C. Access. Lessor agrees that if Tenant is not in breach of this Agreement, Tenant and

Tenant’s employees, officers, directors, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, agents, invitees, and 

other representatives (“Tenant’s Associates”) shall have exclusive use of the Premises to the extent 

reasonably necessary for Tenant’s use, occupancy, and operations at the Premises. 

D. Other Reserved Rights. This Agreement conveys only a leasehold interest in the

Premises on the terms and for other purposes provided herein, and it conveys no other rights, title, 

or interests of any kind. There shall be no merger of the fee estate with the leasehold interest 

conveyed herein. Lessor’s reserved rights are further discussed herein below. 

2. Rent and Payment.

A. Amount Due. Tenant covenants to pay monthly base rent to Lessor for Tenant’s

lease of the Premises in the amount of $2,500.00, commencing on the Commencement Date (as 

defined in Section 3.A.). Lessor and Tenant agree that Tenant’s rent shall increase each year on the 

anniversary of the Commencement Date when this Agreement is in effect, and the amount of such 

increase shall be based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) or five percent (5%), whichever is 

lower, of the rent amount paid during the previous year. The base rent amount stated herein shall 

be abated for each month that Tenant (or Tenant’s Lessor-approved assignee) constructs and 

operates a food bank/food pantry on the Premises in accordance with the required terms and 

conditions of this Agreement.  

B. When Due. Monthly rent payments shall be payable in advance and due on or 
before the first day of each month during the term of this Agreement. 

C. Additional Rent. Any sum (other than the rent required in 2.A.) that Tenant is 
obliged to pay to Lessor arising from or relating to this Agreement or Tenant’s use, occupancy, or 

operations at the Premises constitutes additional rent, which may include but is not limited to, fees, 

fines, civil penalties, damages, claims, interest, charges, and utility charges.  

D. Past Due Amounts. If Tenant fails to pay when due any amount required to be paid 
by Tenant under this Agreement, such unpaid amount shall bear interest at the rate of twelve 

percent (12%) per annum from the due date of such amount to the date of payment in full, with 

interest. In addition, Lessor may also charge a sum of ten percent (10%) of such unpaid amount as 

a service fee, which the Parties agree is a reasonable estimate of liquidated damages for Lessor’s 

additional costs for billing and collection arising from Tenant’s failure to make payment promptly. 

E. Payment. Any amount due in connection with this Agreement or the use of the

Premises shall be due without prior notice or demand, except when notice is necessary to make 



 

3 
 

Tenant aware of an amount due, and shall be paid without offset, abatement, or deduction. Lessor 

shall first apply any sum paid to past due rent (beginning with the most recent amount due). No 

statement on any check or elsewhere shall be deemed to create an accord and satisfaction. Lessor 

may accept any payment (including, but not limited to, past due amounts and related charges) 

without prejudice to Lessor’s rights to recover any sum or pursue other remedies provided by this 

Agreement or by law and without waiving any default under this Agreement. If a bank dishonors 

any check paid on behalf of Tenant, Tenant shall pay all charges that the bank may assess to Lessor 

plus a service charge of Fifty Dollars ($50.00) per occurrence. If Lessor pays any amount on behalf 

of Tenant (including, but not limited to, civil penalties assessed in connection with Tenant’s use of 

the Premises), such amount shall constitute an advance by Lessor to Tenant, and Tenant shall 

promptly reimburse Lessor upon demand by Lessor. Lessor has the right to apply any sum paid by 

Tenant to any obligation that Tenant owes to Lessor (whether or not in connection with this 

Agreement). Tenant shall make payments to Lessor at the following address (or such other address 

as Lessor may designate in writing from time to time): 

 

City of Statesboro 

Attn: Finance Department 

50 East Main Street 

Statesboro, Georgia 30459 

 

3. Term. 

 

A. Term. The term of this Agreement shall be for a period of Fifty (50) years, 

commencing on the 1st day of May, 2024 (the “Commencement Date”) and continuing through 

the 30th day of April 2074  (the “Termination Date”), unless earlier terminated under the provisions 

of this Agreement (the “Term”). 

 

B. Expiration Date. The date on which this Agreement expires under the terms of 

Section 3.A. may also be referred to as the “Expiration Date.” 

 

C. Termination for Convenience for Sale of Premises. Tenant may sell all of 

Tenant's interests in the improvements that Tenant owns on the Premises to a third party who 

is approved by Lessor (in Lessor's sole discretion, which approval shall not be unreasonably 

withheld) and who enters a lease agreement with Lessor on terms offered by Lessor, including 

but not limited to continuation of the purposes stated in Section 1.B. above. This Agreement 

shall automatically terminate at the time when such third party's lease for the Premises 

commences. 

 

4. Tenant’s Improvements. 
 

A. Authorized Improvements. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Tenant has the 

right to construct and maintain a building for the operation of a food pantry on the Premises. Tenant 

shall not make or cause to be made to the Premises any alteration or improvement without Lessor’s 

prior written consent (in Lessor’s sole discretion). All construction shall comply with the 

requirements of Exhibit D.  

 



 

4 
 

B. Title to Improvements. During the term of this Agreement, all portions of any 

building or structure to be constructed and any other improvements built or acquired by 

Tenant shall be and remain the personal property of the Tenant. At the expiration of this 

Agreement, any improvements constructed on the Premises will transfer, free and clear, to 

Lessor. 

 

5. Tenant’s Use and Privileges. 
 

A. Comply with All Laws.  Tenant and Tenant’s Associates shall comply at all 

times, at Tenant's sole cost, with any laws and regulations (as amended or otherwise modified 

from time to time) that apply to Tenant's use, occupancy, or operations at the Premises (the 

“Laws and Regulations”), which include, but are not limited to, all laws, statutes, ordinances, 

regulations, rules, orders, writs, judgments, decrees, injunctions, directives, rulings, 

guidelines, standards, codes, policies, common law, and other pronouncements of any kind 

having the effect of law including, but not limited to any business or nonprofit regulations, 

Bulloch County zoning codes, and all Laws and Regulations pertaining to the environment 

(the “Environmental Laws”); any plans and programs developed in compliance with such 

requirements. Upon a written request by Lessor, Tenant will verify compliance with any Laws 

and Regulations within a reasonable time frame. 

 

B. No Unauthorized Use. Tenant and Tenant’s Associates shall use the Premises 

only for purposes expressly authorized by this Agreement and shall not engage in any 

unauthorized use of the same. Unauthorized uses include, but are not limited to, damaging, 

interfering with, or altering any improvement; restricting access on any road or other area that 

Tenant does not lease; placing waste materials on the Premises or disposing of such materials 

in violation of any Laws and Regulations; any use that would constitute a public or private 

nuisance or a disturbance or annoyance to other licensees, invitees, customers, or other users; 

any commercial activity other than operating a food bank/food pantry; driving a motor vehicle 

in a prohibited location; the use of any automobile parking areas in a manner not authorized 

by Lessor; any use that would interfere with any operation at the Premises or decrease the 

Premises’ effectiveness (as determined by Lessor in its sole discretion); and any use that 

would be prohibited by or would impair coverage under either party's insurance policies. 

 

C. Permits and Licenses. Tenant shall obtain and maintain in current status all 

permits and licenses that are required under any Laws and Regulations in connection with 

Tenant's use, occupancy, or operations at the Premises. In the event that Tenant receives 

notice from any governmental entity that Tenant lacks, or is in violation of, any such permit 

or license, Tenant shall provide Lessor with timely written notice of the same. 

 

D. Taxes and Liens. Tenant shall pay (before their respective due dates) all taxes, 

fees, assessments, and levies that relate to Tenant's use, occupancy, or operations at the 

Premises and all other obligations for which a lien may be created relating thereto (including 

but not limited to, utility charges and work for any improvements). Within thirty (30) days, 

Tenant shall remove any such lien that may be created or commence a protest of such lien by 

depositing with Lessor cash or other security acceptable to Lessor in an amount sufficient to 

cover the cost of removing such lien, plus an additional 10% as a security deposit. When 



 

5 
 

contracting for any work in connection with the Premises, Tenant shall include in such 

contract a provision prohibiting the contractor or any subcontractor or supplier from filing a 

lien or asserting a claim against Lessor's real property or any interest therein. 

 

E. Damage to Property and Notice of Harm. In addition to Tenant's 

indemnification obligations set forth in this Agreement, Tenant, at Tenant's sole cost, shall 

repair or replace (to Lessor's reasonable satisfaction) any damaged property that belongs to 

Lessor to the extent that such damage arises from or relates to an act or omission of Tenant or 

Tenant’s Associates. Tenant shall promptly notify Lessor of any such property damage. If 

Tenant discovers any other potential claims or losses that may affect Lessor, Tenant shall 

promptly notify Lessor of the same. 

 

F. Signage and Advertising. Tenant may install or operate signage outside of 

any enclosed structures on the Premises, provided Tenant has obtained the prior written 

approval of Lessor (which may be given or withheld in Lessor's sole discretion). Any 

approved signage shall be at Tenant's expense and shall comply with Laws and Regulations. 

Tenant shall not advertise or permit others to advertise on the Premises by any means, whether 

or not such advertising is for profit. 

 

G. Security. Tenant is responsible to comply (at Tenant's sole cost) with all 

security measures that Lessor or any other governmental entity having jurisdiction may 

require in connection with the Premises. 

 

H. Maintenance, Repair, Utilities, and Storage. Tenant's use, occupancy, and 

operations at the Premises shall be without cost or expense to Lessor. Tenant shall be solely 

responsible for designing and constructing all improvements and maintaining, repairing, 

reconstructing, and operating the Premises and all improvements at Tenant's sole cost and 

expense, including, but not limited to, all charges for utility services (and their installation and 

maintenance), janitorial services, waste disposal, and any necessary repairs. Tenant shall at all 

times maintain the Premises and all improvements in a good and clean condition that is equal 

to the level of nearby establishments, free of debris, safe, sanitary, and in good repair. Tenant 

shall perform all work in accordance with Laws and Regulations and in a good and 

workmanlike manner. Tenant shall promptly remedy any condition that fails to meet this 

standard. Without limiting the foregoing obligations, Tenant shall not store on the Premises 

any inoperable equipment, discarded or unsightly materials, or materials likely to create a 

hazard; shall not use areas outside of enclosed buildings for storage; and shall store trash in 

covered metal receptacles. Any substance or material regulated by any Environmental Law 

(“Hazardous Materials”) shall be governed by Section 8.  

 

I. Operations and Personnel. Tenant shall occupy the Premises at all times and 

shall operate in a manner that promotes effective food bank/food pantry operations. Among 

other things, Tenant shall use its best efforts to immediately notify Lessor or proper 

maintenance service of any condition that Tenant observes at the Premises that may create a 

hazard or disruption, shall promptly remedy deficiencies in Tenant's operations, and shall 

promptly respond to Lessor's complaints, requests for information, and requests for reasonable 

assistance in connection with planning and other operational matters at the Premises. If 



 

6 
 

Lessor, for good and sufficient cause, deems any of Tenant's employees or Tenant's Associates 

to be objectionable, Tenant shall take all steps necessary to remove such persons from the 

Premises within a reasonable timeframe as determined by the Lessor. Tenant's employees 

shall possess adequate training and qualifications to carry out their assigned duties. If Lessor 

determines for any reason that emergency conditions exist at the Premises, Tenant shall 

participate in any emergency response as directed by Lessor or other agency in charge and 

shall operate in a manner that protects the safety and the interests of the public. Lessor may, 

but is not obligated to, stop Tenant's operations if safety Laws and Regulations or other safe 

work practices are not observed. 

 

6. Lessor’s Authority. 
 

A. Nature of Lessor. Lessor is a governmental entity, and the fee simple title 

holder of the Premises, and Lessor has all lawful rights, powers, and privileges to act in those 

capacities. 

 

B. Access to Premises. Lessor for itself and its employees, officers, directors, 

agents, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, invitees, volunteers, and other representatives 

(“Lessor's Associates”) reserves the right to enter the Premises as provided herein. The same 

does not constitute a trespass upon the Premises or a violation of any rights. Lessor and 

Lessor's Associates shall have the right to enter the Premises (except the interior of any 

building) at any time and without prior notice. Lessor and Lessor's Associates shall have the 

right to enter the interior of any building on the Premises at any time and without prior notice 

for any purpose relating to any emergency, security, or safety concern, or to investigate or 

remediate potential threats or hazards. Lessor and Lessor's Associates shall have the right to 

enter the interior of any building on the Premises for any other purpose relating to any 

building, permitting, or compliance issues (including, but not limited to, in order to conduct 

any inspections, determine compliance with this Agreement) upon providing reasonable 

notice to Tenant. Tenant agrees that Lessor may discuss with Tenant's employees any matters 

pertinent to Tenant's use, occupancy, or operations at the Premises. 

 

C. Lessor's Right to Work Within, Alter, or Recover Premises. Lessor has the 

right to perform or cause to be performed any work (including, but not limited to, constructing 

improvements, surveying, performing environmental testing, removing any hazard or 

obstruction, and implementing any plan, program, or action), that Lessor (in its sole 

discretion) determines to be in Lessor's best interests, including, but not limited to, within the 

Premises. Lessor has the right to recover all or any portion of the Premises from Tenant in 

connection with any such work as Lessor may determine in its sole discretion. If Lessor 

determines to recover all or any portion of the Premises, Lessor shall provide Tenant with 

ninety (90) days prior written notice specifying what areas will be recovered. If any portion 

remaining after such recovery is not tenantable in light of the purposes of this Agreement (as 

determined by Lessor in its sole discretion), Lessor, in its sole discretion, shall either: 

 

i. Purchase the Tenant-owned improvements on the Premises and terminate 

this Agreement for convenience. In connection with any such purchase and termination, 

Lessor shall pay only the following amount: the remaining value of Tenant-owned 



 

7 
 

improvements (so long as such improvements are not in breach of this Agreement), which 

shall be determined as provided in Section 12.A.ii. This Agreement shall terminate at the 

time specified by Lessor in writing; OR: 

 

ii. Relocate such Tenant-owned improvements to another location on the 

Premises (if feasible) determined by Lessor. In connection with any such location, Lessor 

shall pay the reasonable costs to relocate such improvements (so long as they are not in 

breach of this Agreement), and the Parties agree to amend this Agreement to substitute such 

new location as the Premises herein. 

 

Nothing under this Section shall be construed to waive Lessor’s right to pursue any remedy 

for a breach of this Agreement arising from or relating to Tenant’s use, occupancy, or operations 

at any portion of the Premises. Additionally, Lessor’s rights under this Section 6.C. shall be 

subordinate to any security interest holder in Tenant’s Authorized Improvements.  

 

7. Indemnity, Insurance, and Letter of Credit. 

 

A. Indemnity by Tenant. Tenant agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend 

Lessor and its officers, agents, and employees from and against losses of every kind and 

character (including, but not limited to, liabilities, causes of action, losses, claims, costs, fees, 

attorney fees, expert fees, court or dispute resolution costs, investigation costs, environmental 

claims, mitigation costs, judgments, settlements, fines, demands, damages, charges, and 

expenses) that arise out of or relate to: (i) any use, occupancy, or operations at the Premises 

by Tenant or Tenant’s Associates; or (ii) any wrongful, reckless, or negligent act or omission 

of Tenant or Tenant's Associates. Tenant shall use attorneys, experts, and professionals that 

are reasonably acceptable to Lessor in carrying out this obligation, which obligation shall 

survive the expiration or other termination of this Agreement with respect to matters arising 

before such expiration or other termination. These duties shall apply regardless of the 

final determination of the allegations made. 

 

B. Waiver. Tenant assumes all risk of the use of the Premises. Tenant hereby 

knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally waives any losses, liabilities, claims, and causes 

of action of every kind and character that may exist now or in the future (including, but 

not limited to, claims for business interruption) against Lessor and its officers, employees, 

and volunteers arising from or relating to Tenant's use, occupancy, or operations at the 

Premises. 

 

C. Insurance. At Tenant's cost, Tenant shall procure the following insurance 

coverage prior to entering the Premises. Tenant shall maintain its insurance coverage in 

force at all times when this Agreement is in effect in compliance with and subject to 

Lessor's insurance requirements as they exist from time to time (including, but not limited 

to, the terms provided in Exhibit E). Upon Lessor’s written request, Tenant shall provide 

Lessor evidence of insurance coverage through a certificate of insurance within thirty (30) 

days of the commencement of this Agreement. 

 



 

8 
 

i. General Liability Insurance. Coverage shall have minimum combined 

single limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate. The policy must apply to 

all of the property and operations of Tenant. The policy must include coverage for bodily 

injury, broad form property damage (including completed operations), personal injury 

(including coverage for contractual and employee acts), blanket contractual, independent 

contractors, 1986 (or later) ISO Commercial General Liability form, dedicated limits per 

project or location (CG 25 03 or CG 25 04), additional insured endorsement (form b CG 

20 10 with a modification for completed operations or a separate endorsement covering 

completed operations), severability of interest, underground explosion, and collapse 

coverage. 

 

ii. Property Insurance. All risk property insurance coverage in an amount equal 

to the replacement cost (without deduction for appreciation) of the improvements 

constructed on the Premises. Tenant may purchase insurance for Tenant’s personal property 

as Tenant may determine. 

 

iii. Automobile. If Tenant drives any automobile other than in the 

roadways, comprehensive automobile liability coverage for claims and damage 

due to bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out of 

Tenant's ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicles, whether owned, 

hired, or non-owned, of not less than five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) 

single combined limit "per accident" for bodily injury and property damage. 

 

iv. Business Interruption. Tenant is responsible for all costs of business 

interruption, however, incurred, and Tenant shall purchase and maintain business 

interruption insurance as may be reasonably determined by Lessor. 

 

D. Performance Security. Upon any material default by Tenant under this 

Agreement, Lessor reserves the right to require performance security.  The form and amount 

of such security will be determined by Lessor, taking into consideration the nature and extent 

of the default, and should be acceptable to Lessor.  

 

8. Hazardous Materials. 

 

A. No Violation of Environmental Laws. Tenant shall not cause or permit any 

Hazardous Materials to be used, produced, stored, transported, brought upon, or released 

on, under, or about the Premises by Tenant or Tenant's Associates in violation of applicable 

Environmental Laws. Tenant is responsible for any such violation as provided by Section 

7.A of this Agreement. Tenant shall indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any claims, 

damages, fines, or penalties arising from any violation of environmental laws by Tenant or Tenant's 

Associates. 

 

9. Assignment and Subleasing. 
 

A. Assignment by Tenant. Tenant shall not assign any of its rights under this 

Agreement, including, but not limited to, rights in any improvements (whether such 



 

9 
 

assignment is voluntarily or involuntarily, by merger, consolidation, dissolution, change 

in control, or any other manner), and shall not delegate any performance under this 

Agreement, except with the prior written consent of Lessor to any of the same. Lessor 

shall not unreasonably withhold such consent, and as a condition of obtaining such 

consent, the transferee receiving any such right shall be required to execute a new lease 

agreement provided by Lessor. Notwithstanding any such assignment or delegation, with 

or without Lessor's consent, Tenant shall remain fully liable for the performance of all 

obligations under this Agreement—any purported assignment or delegation of rights or 

delegation of performance in violation of this Section 9.A is void. 

 

B. Assignment by Lessor. Lessor shall have the right, in Lessor's sole 

discretion, to assign any of its rights under this Agreement (and in connection therewith, 

shall be deemed to have delegate its duties), and upon any such assignment, Lessor shall 

give Tenant notice of such assignment. Following receipt of such notice, Tenant agrees to 

perform its obligations under this Agreement in favor of such assignee. 

 

C. Encumbrances. Tenant shall not encumber or permit the encumbrance of 

any real property at the Premises. Tenant shall not encumber or permit the encumbrance 

of any of Tenant's rights under this Agreement without Lessor's prior written consent, in 

Lessor's sole discretion. Tenant shall not record this Agreement or any document or 

interest relating thereto, with the exception of a Memorandum of Lease in a form 

acceptable to Lessor. Any purported encumbrance of rights in violation of this Section 

9.C is void. In connection with Lessor's consent to any encumbrance, at a minimum the 

following shall apply: (i) such encumbrance shall only encumber Tenant's leasehold 

interest for the purpose of securing financing for Tenant's authorized improvements (no 

other encumbrance shall be permitted); (ii) such encumbrance shall be subordinate to 

Lessor's interests in the underlying real property (however, Lessor agrees that its interest 

in Tenant’s Authorized Improvements constructed on the Premises shall be subordinate 

to any security interest related to such improvements); (iii) the lienholder must agree to 

maintain current contact information with Lessor and provide Lessor with concurrent 

copies of any notices or communications regarding a default in a form and content 

acceptable to Lessor; (iv) the lienholder must certify to Lessor that it has reviewed this 

Agreement and accepted provisions that may affect the lienholder, and that no loan 

requirements conflict with or materially erode any provisions of this Agreement; (v) any 

default relating to such encumbrance shall be a default of this Agreement; (vi) the Lessor 

agrees that upon any default, Tenant’s security interest holder shall have a lien with first 

priority on all Tenant-owned improvements at the Premises; and (vii) such encumbrance 

shall terminate prior to the Expiration Date and the lienholder must agree to promptly 

remove such encumbrance when the obligation that it secures has been satisfied. If (while 

such encumbrance is in effect) Tenant defaults under such encumbrance or this 

Agreement, and if such lienholder is in compliance with the provisions set forth in this 

Section 9.C and cures Tenant's defaults of this Agreement within twenty (20) days after 

the first such default, Lessor will permit such lienholder to provide a substitute tenant 

(which must be acceptable to Lessor in its sole discretion) for a period of up to twelve 

(12) months after the date when such lienholder cured all defaults so long as such 

lienholder fully performs this Agreement during such period. If such lienholder fails to 



 

10 
 

comply with any of the foregoing requirements, such failure shall be a default of this 

Agreement, and Lessor may at any time (but is not required to) terminate this Agreement 

and exercise any rights hereunder, including, but not limited to, those set forth at Section 

12.A.i. Lessor shall have no obligation to provide any notices to any lienholder, and 

Lessor shall have no liability to any lienholder. 

 

D. Subleasing. Tenant shall not have the right to sublease any portion of the 

Premises throughout the term of this Agreement without the prior written consent of 

Lessor, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

10. Damage, Destruction, and Condemnation. 

 

A. Damage or Destruction of Premises. If any portion of the Premises or the 

improvements on the Premises is damaged in any manner, Tenant shall promptly remove 

from the Premises all debris and cause repairs to be made at Tenant's expense to restore 

the same to an orderly and safe condition. All work shall be performed in accordance 

with plans and specifications that Lessor approves as being consistent with or better than 

the original improvements. Tenant shall apply all proceeds that are made available from 

Tenant's insurance policies (or those of any subtenant or assignee) to performing such 

work. If Lessor performs such work pursuant to Section 11.B, such insurance proceeds 

shall be paid to Lessor. If the Premises or any improvement on the Premises are tenantable 

despite such damage, Tenant shall not receive any abatement of Tenant's rent obligations. 

To the extent that any portion is rendered untenantable by such damage in light of the 

purposes of this Agreement (as determined by Lessor in its sole discretion), rent shall 

continue if Tenant has business interruption insurance, or if Tenant does not have such 

insurance, Lessor may abate Tenant's rent proportionately until repairs have been 

substantially completed (as determined by Lessor in its sole discretion). Landlord agrees 

to work with any security interest holder in Tenant’s Authorized Improvements 

constructed on the Premises regarding such security interest holder’s rights under its 

security instruments with Tenant.  

 

B. Condemnation. In the event of any condemnation proceeding in which all or 

any part of the Premises is taken (by a condemnor other than Lessor), all compensation from 

such proceeding shall be paid to Lessor, except that Tenant may pursue a claim against the 

condemnor for the value of the improvements on the Premises that are owned by Tenant 

and Tenant's leasehold interest. Any subtenants may pursue a claim against the condemnor 

for the value of their subtenancy interests. In the event of a partial taking, Lessor shall 

reduce the ground rent payable by Tenant on a pro-rata basis for portions of the Premises so 

taken. If Lessor determines in its sole discretion that all or a material portion of the Premises 

will be (or has been) rendered untenantable as a result of such taking, Lessor may terminate 

this Agreement by giving Tenant a written notice of termination, and this Agreement shall 

terminate at the time specified in the notice (which shall not be less than thirty (30) days after 

the date of such notice). Any security interest holder in Tenant’s Authorized Improvements 

constructed on the Premises shall be recognized as an interested party in any condemnation 

proceeding related to the Premises.  

 



 

11 
 

11. Default. 
 

A. Tenant's Default. The occurrence of any of the following events shall 

constitute a default by Tenant under this Agreement unless cured within thirty (30) days 

following written notice of such violation from lessor: (i) Tenant fails to timely pay any 

installment of rent or any additional rent; (ii) Tenant violates any requirement under this 

Agreement (including, but not limited to, abandonment of the Premises); (iii) Tenant assigns 

or encumbers any right in this Agreement, delegates any performance hereunder, or subleases 

any part of the Premises (except as expressly permitted in this Agreement); (iv) Tenant files 

a petition in bankruptcy or has a petition filed against Tenant in bankruptcy, insolvency, or 

for reorganization or appointment of a receiver or trustee which is not dismissed within sixty 

(60) days; (v) Tenant petitions for or enters into an arrangement for the benefit of creditors, 

or suffers this Agreement to become subject to a writ of execution and such writ is not released 

within thirty (30) days; or (vi) Tenant defaults in constructing any improvements that are 

required to be constructed under this Agreement. 

 

B. Remedies. Upon any default by Tenant under this Agreement, Lessor may (at 

any time) pursue any or all remedies available to Lessor, including, but not limited to, the 

following: (i) perform in Tenant's stead any obligation that Tenant has failed to perform, and 

Tenant shall promptly pay to Lessor all costs incurred by Lessor for such performance, 

together with interest and service fees for any past due amounts (as provided in Section 2.D) 

and an administrative charge equal to ten percent (10%) of the cost incurred by Lessor (which 

the parties agree is a reasonable estimate of and liquidated damages for Lessor's overhead 

expenses associated with such performance); (ii) terminate Tenant's rights under this 

Agreement upon delivering a written notice of termination; and (iii) re-enter and take 

possession of the Premises by any lawful means (with or without terminating this Agreement). 

Tenant shall pay all costs and damages arising out of Tenant's default, including, but not 

limited to, the cost of recovering possession of the Premises, the cost of improving and 

reletting the Premises (including, but not limited to, any real estate broker fees or marketing 

costs), and attorneys' fees and costs. Notwithstanding any termination or re-entry, Tenant shall 

remain liable to pay the rent and additional rent required under this Agreement for the 

remaining term of this Agreement, or until the Premises are relet, whichever is shorter, and 

Tenant shall pay Lessor on demand for any deficiency in the same. No action by Lessor or 

Lessor's Associates shall be construed as an election by Lessor to terminate this Agreement 

or accept any surrender of the Premises unless Lessor provides Tenant with a written notice 

expressly stating that Lessor has terminated this Agreement or accepted a surrender of the 

Premises. Following a default by Tenant under this Agreement, Lessor shall exercise 

commercially reasonable, good faith efforts to mitigate its damages as required by applicable 

Georgia law. In the event Tenant has a lender with a security interest in the Authorized 

Improvements developed on the Premises, such lender shall, during such time as its security 

interest remains valid, receive notice of any Tenant default and shall have a right, but not any 

obligation, to cure Tenant’s default. If Tenant is unable to or fails to cure any default or Tenant 

files for bankruptcy protection, Tenant may assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement 

to its lender in accordance with Section 9 herein. 

 



 

12 
 

C. Default by Lessor. Lessor shall not be in default under this Agreement unless 

Lessor fails to perform an obligation required of Lessor under this Agreement within thirty 

(30) days after written notice by Tenant to Lessor. If the nature of Lessor's obligation is such 

that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required for performance or cure, Lessor shall 

not be in default if Lessor commences performance within such thirty (30) day period and 

thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion. 

 

D. Survival. The provisions of this Section 11 and the remedies and rights provided 

in Section 7 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

 

12. Expiration or Termination of Agreement. 

 

A. Disposition of Tenant’s Improvements. For the purposes of this Agreement, 

"Tenant's Improvements" shall include, but not be limited to, any alterations, additions, or 

improvements made by the Tenant to the Premises. 

 

i. Disposition If Agreement Terminates Due to Default. If this Agreement 

terminates before the Expiration Date due to a default pursuant to Section 11.A, 

within ninety (90) days after such termination, Lessor, in its sole discretion, may 

determine to accept title to all or any portion of the Tenant-owned improvements on 

the Premises. Upon Lessor accepting any such title, all of Tenant's rights, title, and 

interests in the same shall be terminated, and title thereto shall vest in Lessor 

automatically. Tenant shall surrender such improvements and the Premises upon 

termination of the Agreement in accordance with Section 12.B and Section 13.P. If 

Lessor rejects any such title, or if such ninety-day period expires, Tenant shall, within 

sixty (60) days of such rejection or expiration, remove all improvements that were not 

accepted by Lessor at Tenant's sole expense in a manner acceptable to Lessor (and the 

obligations of Section 7.A shall apply to such removal). If Tenant fails to remove any 

such improvements, Lessor may do so in any manner acceptable to Lessor pursuant to 

Section 11.B. 

 

ii. Disposition Upon Expiration. At the expiration of this Agreement, any 

improvements constructed on the Premises will transfer, free and clear, to the 

Authority. 

 

B. Surrender of Premises. Upon any expiration or termination of this 

Agreement, Tenant, at Tenant's sole cost, shall (i) promptly and peaceably surrender to 

Lessor the Premises (and any improvements accepted by Lessor pursuant to Section 12.A) 

"broom clean," free of debris, and in good order and condition; (ii) repair in a good and 

workmanlike manner any damage to the Premises (other than that which resulted from 

ordinary wear and tear during the term of the lease) that arises from or relates to Tenant's 

use, occupancy, or operations under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, while 

removing any property upon expiration or termination); (iii) deliver to Lessor all keys and 

access credentials, if any; and (iv) remove all movable personal property and trade 

fixtures (including signage) that are not owned by Lessor, (except that Tenant must obtain 

Lessor's prior written consent to remove any such property if Tenant is in default under 



 

13 
 

this Agreement or if such removal may impair the structure of any building). Upon any 

expiration or termination of this Agreement (which includes, but is not limited to, 

termination for abandonment of the Premises), all property that Tenant leaves on the 

Premises shall conclusively be deemed to have been abandoned and may be appropriated, 

sold, stored, destroyed, or otherwise disposed of by Lessor without notice to, and without 

any obligation to account to, Tenant or any other person (except that improvements owned 

by Tenant shall be as provided in Section 12.A). Tenant shall pay to Lessor all expenses 

incurred in connection with the disposition of such property in excess of any amount 

received by Lessor from such disposition. Tenant shall not be released from Tenant's 

obligations under this Agreement in connection with surrender of the Premises until 

Lessor has inspected the Premises and delivered to Tenant a written acceptance of such 

surrender. 

 

C. Holding Over. If Tenant remains in possession of the Premises after any 

expiration or termination of this Agreement, such occupancy shall not waive any default 

under this Agreement, and Lessor may terminate such occupancy as a tenancy at will in 

accordance with state law. During such occupancy, Tenant shall comply with all 

provisions of this Agreement, if any, that apply to an at-will tenancy,  

 

D. Survival.  The obligations and liabilities of the Tenant under Section 12, including 

but not limited to the surrender of Premises and disposition of Tenant's Improvements, shall 

survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

 

13. General Provisions.  
 

A. Notices. Any notice, demand, written consent, or other communication 

required to be in writing under this Agreement shall be given in writing by personal delivery, 

express mail (postage prepaid), nationally recognized overnight courier with all fees prepaid 

(such as by way of example, Federal Express or UPS), or certified mail (return receipt 

requested and postage prepaid) when addressed to the respective parties as follows: 

 

Lessor: Tenant: 

City of Statesboro 

Attn: City Manager 

Statesboro City Hall 

50 East Main Street 

Statesboro, Georgia 30459 

 

With a copy to: 

 

City of Statesboro 

Attn: City Attorney 

Statesboro City Hall 

50 East Main Street 

Statesboro, Georgia 30459 

 

The Food Bank, Inc. 

Attn: Larry Colbert, President 

620 Ogeechee Drive West 

Statesboro, Georgia 30461 

 

 

With a copy to: 

 

The Food Bank, Inc. 

Attn: Jodi Brannon, Registered Agent 

400 Donnie Simmons Way 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458 



 

14 
 

 

Either Lessor or Tenant may change its notice address by giving written notice (as 

provided herein) of such change to the other party. Any notice, demand, or written consent 

or communication shall be deemed to have been given and shall be effective upon 

compliance with this Section 13.B and delivery to the notice address then in effect for the 

party to which the notice is directed, provided, however, that such delivery shall not be 

defeated or delayed by any refusal to accept delivery or an inability to effect delivery because 

of an address change that was not properly communicated 

B. Incorporation. All exhibits referred to in this Agreement, as they may be 

amended from time to time, are incorporated in and are a part of this Agreement. Any 

proposal materials submitted by Tenant in response to a solicitation by Lessor, to the 

extent accepted by Lessor, shall also be incorporated in this Agreement.  

 

C. Binding Obligation. Tenant warrants and represents that it has the right, 

power, and legal capacity to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement as 

a legal, valid, and binding obligation of Tenant. 

 

D. Nondiscrimination Regarding Facilities, Improvements, and Federally-

Funded Activities. Tenant for itself, successors in interest, and assigns (to the extent 

successors and assigns are permitted by this Agreement), as a part of the consideration hereof, 

does hereby covenant and agree as a covenant running with the land that: (1) no person on the 

grounds of race, color, national origin (including limited English proficiency), creed, sex 

(including sexual orientation and gender identity), age, or disability shall be excluded from 

participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use 

of said facilities or any activity conducted with or benefiting from Federal assistance, (2) that 

in the construction of any improvements on, over, or under such land and the furnishing of 

services thereon, no person on the grounds of race, color, or national origin (including limited 

English proficiency) shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 

otherwise be subjected to discrimination, (3) that Tenant shall use the Premises in compliance 

with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant any applicable Laws and Regulations, 

including but not limited to laws and regulations related to the funding contributed from 

Lessor and from County through the American Recovery Plan Act (“ARPA”), and shall obtain 

such compliance from any sublessees or other parties holding lower tier agreements (to the 

extent the same are permitted by this Agreement). 

 

E. Force Majeure. No act or event, unless it is an event beyond the reasonable 

control of the Tenant, such as a natural disaster, war, epidemic, or government action, shall 

operate to excuse Tenant from the prompt payment of rent or any other amounts required to 

be paid under this Agreement. If Lessor (or Tenant in connection with obligations other than 

payment obligations) is delayed or hindered in any performance under this Agreement by a 

force majeure event, such performance shall be excused to the extent so delayed or hindered 

during the time when such force majeure event is in effect, and such performance shall 

promptly occur or resume thereafter, provided that if the party delayed or hindered is the 

Tenant, any additional costs incurred in resuming performance shall be borne by the Tenant. 

A “force majeure event” is an act or event, whether foreseen or unforeseen, that prevents a 



 

15 
 

party in whole or in part from performing as provided in this Agreement, that is beyond the 

reasonable control of and not the fault of such party, and that such party has been unable to 

avoid or overcome by exercising due diligence, and may include, but is not limited to, acts of 

nature, war, riots, strikes, accidents, fire, and changes in law. 

 

F. Rights and Remedies. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the 

rights and remedies set forth in this Agreement are not intended to be exhaustive, and the 

exercise by either party of any right or remedy does not preclude the exercise of any other 

rights or remedies that may now or subsequently exist. 

 

G. Attorneys’ Fees. If any action is brought to recover any rent or other amount 

under this Agreement because of any default under this Agreement, to enforce or interpret any 

of the provisions of this Agreement, or for recovery of possession of the Premises, the party 

prevailing in such action shall be entitled to recover from the other party reasonable attorneys’ 

fees, court costs, the fees of experts and other professionals, and other costs arising from such 

action (including those incurred in connection with any appeal), the amount of which shall be 

fixed by the court and made a part of any judgment rendered. Tenant shall be responsible for 

all expenses, including, but not limited to, attorneys fees, incurred by Lessor in any case or 

proceeding involving Tenant or any permitted assignee of Tenant under or related to 

any bankruptcy or insolvency law. The provisions of this Section shall survive any expiration 

or termination of this Agreement. 

 

H. Governing Law, Venue, and Waiver of Jury Trial. This Agreement and the 

respective rights and obligations of the parties shall be governed by, interpreted, and enforced 

in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia. Venue for any action arising out of or 

related to this Agreement or actions contemplated hereby may be brought in the Bulloch 

County Superior Court or the United States District Court for Georgia so long as one of such 

courts shall have subject matter jurisdiction over such action or proceeding. Each of the parties 

hereby irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of the same and of the appropriate appellate 

courts therefrom. Lessor and Tenant each knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally waive 

their right to trial by jury in any action, proceeding, or counterclaim brought by either of them 

against the other for all matters arising out of or relating to this ground lease or any use, 

occupancy, or operations at the Premises, unless otherwise required by law. The provisions 

of this Section shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

 

I. Amendments and Waivers. No amendment to this Agreement shall be 

binding on Lessor or Tenant unless reduced to writing and signed by both parties. No 

provision of this Agreement may be waived except pursuant to a writing executed by the 

party against whom the waiver is sought to be enforced. 

 

J. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid, 

illegal, or unenforceable, such provision shall be replaced with a valid provision that most closely 

matches the intent of the original provision. The remaining provisions of this Agreement shall 

remain in full force and effect if both the economic and legal substance of the transactions that 

this Agreement contemplates are not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. 

If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the parties shall 



 

16 
 

negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement to fulfill as closely as possible the original 

intents and purposes of this Agreement. 

 

K. Merger. This Agreement constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive 

agreement between the parties on the matters contained in this Agreement. All prior and 

contemporaneous negotiations and agreements between the parties on the matters contained 

in this Agreement are expressly merged into and superseded by this Agreement. In entering 

into this Agreement, neither party has relied on any statement, representation, warranty, nor 

agreement of the other party except for those expressly contained in this Agreement. 

 

L. Confidentiality. Tenant acknowledges that Lessor is subject to legal 

requirements regarding the public disclosure of records. Tenant shall comply with such laws 

in connection with making any request that Lessor maintain a record confidentially. If Tenant 

complies with the same, Tenant shall have the right, but not the obligation, to defend any such 

request for confidentiality at Tenant's expense. 

 

M. Relationship of Parties. This Agreement does not create any partnership, joint 

venture, employment, or agency relationship between the parties. Nothing in this Agreement 

shall confer upon any other person or entity any right, benefit, or remedy of any nature. 

 

N. Further Assurances. Each party shall execute any document or take any action 

that may be necessary or desirable to consummate and make effective a performance that is 

required under this Agreement. 

 

O. Miscellaneous. The headings in this Agreement are provided for convenience 

only and do not affect this Agreement's construction or interpretation. All references to Sections 

are to Sections in this Agreement. Each provision to be performed by Tenant shall be 

construed as both a covenant and a condition. This Agreement shall be construed without regard 

to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation against the drafting party. If 

Tenant consists of more than one individual or entity, the obligations of all such individuals and 

entities shall be joint and several. References in this Agreement to any period of days shall 

mean calendar days unless expressly stated otherwise. 

 

P. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 

 

 

(Signatures on following page) 

 

  



 

17 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 

first above written. 

 

 THE FOOD BANK, INC. 

 

 

By:__________________________________ 

       Larry Colbert, Chairman 

Attest: 

 

 

By:__________________________________ 

       Johnny W. Tremble, Corp. Secretary 

 

 

  

 

 

 MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 

STATESBORO 

 

 

By:__________________________________ 

       Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

 

By:__________________________________ 

       Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

 

By:__________________________________ 

       Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

  



 

18 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

 

  



 

19 
 

EXHIBIT B 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

  



 

20 
 

EXHIBIT C 

PREMISES LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF RECORD 

 

 

“All that certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the 1209th G.M. District of 

Bulloch County, Georgia, and lying in the City limits of Statesboro, containing 3.75 acres, 

more or less and being identified as Map 07, Parcel 005 in the Office of the Bulloch County 

Tax Assessor. Said parcel being bounded on the South by Miller Street, on the West by the 

Right of Way of Northside Drive (Highway 80) and on the East by Parrish Street and on 

the North by lands of Panya Pratik, et al.” 

 

 

As such property is described in that certain Limited Warranty Deed from Mark Herman Holzman 

a/k/a Mark Holzman and Martin Walter Holzman a/k/a Walter Holzman, as Grantor, to the Mayor 

and City Council of Statesboro, as Grantee, dated June 27, 2022, and recorded at Deed Book 2733, 

Page 818, on June 27, 2022, in the real property records of the Bulloch County Superior Court 

Clerk.  

 

See also that certain survey titled “City Property Belonging to F.C. Parker, Sr. & Jr.,” dated March 

[blank day], 1955, and recorded on May 27, 1955, at Plat Book 2, Page 200, in the real property 

records of the Bulloch County Superior Court Clerk. Together with reference thereon stating, “See 

Warranty Deed from F.C. Parker, Jr. to F.C. Parker, Sr. recorded in Book 195, Page 594”. 

 

Premises assigned Bulloch County Tax Assessor Parcel Number: S07 000005 000. 

 

 

  



 

21 
 

EXHIBIT D 

 

TENANT CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS 

 

D.1 Authorization. Tenant shall not commence any construction on the Premises without 

Lessor's prior written consent for all work to be conducted. Lessor shall respond to Tenant's request 

for consent within thirty (30) days of receiving the request. Tenant shall submit plans, a schedule, 

and a budget to Lessor when requesting to construct improvements. Lessor may request any 

information, request modifications, consent to, or deny Tenant's request in Lessor's sole discretion. 

For any authorized project, Tenant shall provide Lessor with copies of all plans, specifications, 

and construction documents during the progress of the work, and the matters contained therein 

shall be subject to Lessor's consent. Tenant shall make no changes to the work without Lessor's 

prior written consent. 

 

D.2 Required Construction Standards and Permits. All work shall be performed in a good 

and workmanlike manner and shall be equal to or greater than the quality of the original materials, 

workmanship, and appearance of similar buildings and structures in the vicinity. Work shall be 

performed by qualified and properly licensed personnel. All work shall conform to Laws and 

Regulations, including, but not limited to, the Uniform Building Code, Uniform Fire Code, and 

other codes, standards, permits, and plan check requirements as the same may be adopted by 

Bulloch County, as well as any applicable federal or state laws. Tenant shall not commence 

construction for any building, structure, or other authorized improvements without first obtaining 

a Bulloch County building permit. Work shall be performed in a safe manner, and Lessor shall 

have the right, but not the obligation, to stop any work until safety conditions can be investigated 

and implemented. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Lessor shall not be held liable for any 

accidents, damages, or injuries that occur on the work site due to the Tenant's negligence or failure 

to adhere to safety standards, and the Tenant shall indemnify and hold the Lessor harmless from 

any such claims. The work site shall be secured consistent with commercial building standards 

during the performance of the work. 

 

D.3 Coordination. Tenant, as may be necessary, shall coordinate all work so as to minimize 

any disruption to the surrounding establishments. Lessor shall have the right, but not the duty, to 

direct that Tenant and Tenant's Associates cease activities or revise work plans to avoid disruption. 

Tenant and Tenant's Associates shall meet with Lessor as requested by Lessor as the work 

progresses and provide Lessor with information as Lessor may require. Lessor may require Tenant 

to comply with other measures that are in Lessor's interests in connection with any construction 

activities. 

 

D.4 Indemnification, Insurance, and Bonds. Tenant shall cause Tenant's Associates, who are 

performing any work relating to constructing improvements, to provide the following: 

 

a. Indemnity. Tenant shall require such associates to indemnify Lessor in connection 

with Lessor's interests consistent with the indemnity obligation of Section 7.A. 

 

b. Insurance. Tenant shall provide or shall require such associates to provide builder's 

risk coverage to insure the improvements constructed on the Premises to the extent of not less than 



 

22 
 

one hundred percent (100%) of such improvements' full insurable value using the all risk form of 

protection, as well as general liability, auto, and workers compensation insurance coverage as set 

forth in Section 7 to cover such work. Tenant is responsible for ensuring that all design 

professionals engaged in the project have errors and omissions coverage in an amount not less than 

one million dollars ($1,000,000). All such insurance shall comply with and be subject to Lessor's 

insurance requirements, including, but not limited to, those set forth in Exhibit E. 

 

c. Bonds. Tenant shall provide or shall require such associates to provide construction 

payment and performance bonds in amounts covering not less than one hundred percent (100%) 

of the contract price of such improvements and in a form acceptable to Lessor. All such bonds shall 

name Lessor as a co-obligee. 

D.5 Agreement Applicable to Work. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to all work 

pursued by Tenant to construct improvements, regardless of whether such work commences or 

concludes before the Commencement Date or after any expiration or termination of this Agreement 

(including, but not limited to, Tenant's indemnity, waiver, and insurance obligations under Section 

7 and repair obligations under Section 5.E, provisions prohibiting liens, and provisions requiring 

compliance with all Laws and Regulations). Tenant shall provide for compliance with this 

Agreement's requirements by Tenant's Associates who are performing any work relating to 

constructing improvements. 

D.6 Default for Failure to Complete. Tenant shall comply with the construction schedule 

approved by Lessor. If such construction is not completed materially within any times required by 

Tenant's approved schedule, or if for any reason Tenant fails to complete construction within forty-

five (45) days of Tenant's approved date for substantial completion, Tenant shall be in default under 

this Agreement. Lessor shall have all of the rights set forth in Section 12.A.i regarding a forfeiture 

in addition to all other remedies. Upon any default, Tenant shall turn over to Lessor copies of all 

records associated with the work and shall work cooperatively with Lessor. 

D.7 Final Submittals.  Tenant shall submit the following to Lessor within ninety (90) days of 

beneficial occupancy: 

 

a. Certified Financials. Tenant shall submit a statement of construction costs 

certifying the total construction cost of any improvement in a form reasonably required by Lessor. 

 

b. Free of Liens. Tenant shall submit a statement that the Premises and Tenant's 

improvements are free and clear of all liens, claims, or encumbrances (except when specifically 

authorized in the manner permitted under this Agreement). 

 

c. As-Built Drawings. Tenant shall submit at its expense a complete set of accurate 

“as-built” plans and specifications for Tenant's improvements. Such plans and specifications shall 

include one set of bond paper “record” drawings and electronic drawings that conform to a format 

and standards specified by Lessor. 

 

D.8 Initial Tenant Improvements. Lessor has authorized, and Tenant shall construct the initial 

improvements that are summarized in Exhibit D – Attachment 1, and such obligation includes 



 

23 
 

but is not limited to, the plans, schedule, and date for access to the Premises in connection with 

such improvements. 

  



 

24 
 

EXHIBIT D – ATTACHMENT 1 

REQUIRED TENANT IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Tenant shall construct the improvements specified in this Exhibit D – Attachment 1. Tenant 

agrees to obtain the required building permit within thirty (30) days from the date when Tenant 

signs this Agreement unless Lessor otherwise extends such time. Tenant also agrees to 

commence building within ninety (90) days from the date when Tenant signs this Agreement 

unless otherwise extended by Lessor. The Tenant is responsible for securing the construction 

site to ensure that it is safe for Tenant and visitors and does not obstruct any surrounding right 

of way or operations of surrounding entities. Tenant shall remove all construction waste, 

debris, earth, or rocks from the construction site and, on a daily basis during construction and 

upon completion of construction. All improvements must obtain required approvals from 

Lessor prior to commencing construction. 

Date for Tenant's Access to the Premises:    

Schedule for Construction:  _____________________________________ 

Commencement of the Work:   

 

Substantial Completion:   

 

Other schedule requirements shall be as approved by Lessor. 

 

Tenant shall cause the construction of the plans and specifications for the improvements as 

submitted to Lessor, which may be summarized as follows: 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  



 

25 
 

EXHIBIT E 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

E.1  General Requirements. At all times when this Agreement is in effect, Tenant shall 

maintain in force all required insurance coverage and shall have on file with the Lessor 

Certificates of Insurance evidencing the same. Ratings for the financial strength of the 

companies providing Tenant's insurance policies shall be disclosed in such certificates and 

shall be “A-” or stronger as published in the latest Best's Key Rating Guide (or a comparable 

rating from a comparable rating service). If a lower rating is proposed, Lessor may examine 

the financial strength of the insurance company proposed to provide coverage and may 

consent to a lower rating in the Lessor's sole and absolute discretion. Lessor may also require 

additional assurances from Tenant. All certificates shall be signed by a person authorized by 

the insurer and licensed by the State of Georgia. All policies (except any policies required for 

workers' compensation or errors and omissions) and the certificates evidencing coverage shall 

name Lessor, and their officers, employees, and volunteers as additional insureds. Tenant 

shall provide for a renewal of all insurance coverage on a timely basis to prevent any lapse in 

coverage. Lessor retains the right to approve any deductibles, and Tenant shall notify Lessor 

of any material erosion of the aggregate limits of any policy. Tenant's policies shall be 

primary. Such policies shall extend insurance to cover Tenant's contractual obligations under 

this Agreement. 

 

E.2 Minimum Requirements. Lessor's insurance requirements are minimum 

requirements, and Tenant is responsible for obtaining adequate insurance coverage as Tenant 

may determine. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, Tenant assumes all 

risk under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, business interruption claims) whether 

or not insured. 

 

E.3 Waiver of Subrogation. Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this 

Agreement, each of the parties hereby waives any rights of subrogation it may have against 

the other party for loss or damage from any risk that is covered by insurance (including, but 

not limited to, claims for business interruption). Each party shall obtain a clause or 

endorsement providing for such waiver of subrogation in any insurance policies required 

under this Agreement. 

 

E.4 Terms Subject to Change. Lessor, in its sole and absolute discretion, reserves the right 

to review and adjust at any time Tenant's required insurance limits, types of coverage, and any 

other terms applicable to insurance to insure against any risk associated with this Agreement 

or Tenant's use, occupancy, or operations at the Premises. Among other things, Lessor may 

review any or all insurance coverage on a periodic basis and in connection with any specific 

activity or event associated with the Premises or proposed by Tenant. 

 

E.5 Reimbursement for Increased Costs to Lessor. If any insurance carrier providing 

coverage to Lessor increases its charge of any policy of insurance carried by Lessor as a result 

of this Agreement or Tenant's use, occupancy, or operations at the Premises, Tenant shall 



 

26 
 

pay the amount of such increase within ten (10) days after Lessor delivers to Tenant a certified 

statement from Lessor's insurance carrier stating the amount of the increase attributable to 

Tenant. 

 

E.6 Stopping Operations. Among Lessor's remedies, if at any time Tenant's insurance 

coverage is not in effect as required herein, Lessor may stop all or any portion of Tenant's 

operations without liability to Lessor until Tenant fully restores such coverage, or in any other 

situation where the Lessor deems it necessary to protect its interests. 

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari R Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

 
 
To:  Charles Penny, City Manager, Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From:  Olympia Gaines, Assistant to the City Manager 
 
Date:  April 5, 2024 
 
Re:  Security Enhancement Incentive Program Application 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of a motion to conditionally approve the application submitted by 
Centurion Property 111 South, LLC dba 111 South Apartments for funding under the Security 
Enhancement Incentive Program in amount of $19, 969.50 subject to the fulfillment of all 
eligibility requirements. 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: The attached documents includes the signed guidelines and an application for the 
Security Enhancement Incentive Program along with recommendations from the Statesboro 
Police Department. 
 
Budget Impact: ARPA  
 
Council Person and District: District 2 
 
Attachments: Signed Program Guidelines and Application 
 























 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phillip A. Boyum 

Paulette Chavers 

Ginny Hendley 

John Riggs 

Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Jason Boyles 

      Assistant City Manager 

 

From: Darren Prather 

    Central Services Director 

 

Date: 4-11-2024 

 

RE: Façade Renovation/ Averitt Center for the Arts 

 

Policy Issue: Purchasing 

 

Recommendation:  

Consideration of a motion to award a contract for the Averitt Center for the Arts 

façade renovation to Hudson and Hubbard Contractors in the amount of 

$131,530.00. If approved, this project will be funded using 2019 SPLOST funds. 

 

 

Background:   

The façade of the Averitt Center for the Arts is in need of repairs as the stucco is 

failing structurally. This is the second time this project has been out to bid and 

the opportunity has been sent to numerous contractors. This project is urgent in 

nature as it is located above the entrance to the theater portion of the Arts 

Center. If approved, it is expected the construction will commence within a few 

weeks with a completion timeline of approximately 30 days.   

 

 

Budget Impact: Council Person and District:  All 

 

 

Attachments: None 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Jason Boyles 
     Assistant City Manager 
   
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
          Director of Public Utilities 
 
Date: 4/10/2024 
 
RE: Professional Services Agreement Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering Inc. for 
Burkhalter Rd / Railroad Bed Rd. water and sewer extensions.                                                
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to execute a Professional Services 
Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering, Inc. in the amount not to exceed 
$374,100.00 to provide design, bid,  and contract administration services for the 
extension of sanitary sewer and water to the Burkhalter Rd / Railroad Bed Rd 
area. To be paid for with operating revenues and 2019 SPLOST as approved in 
CIP Projects WWD-196 & WWD-197. 
 
Background: As part of the City’s plan to extend water and sewer into high 
growth potential areas the decision was made to initiate the process to install 
water and sewer mains in the Burkhalter Rd / Railroad Bed Rd area. This location 
was identified many years ago in the City’s master plan for water and sewer as 
a high priority area, due to its close proximity to shopping centers, recreational 
facilities and Georgia Southern. This location is even more desirable now due to 
its location on the south side of town making travel to the Hyundai plant more 
convenient. Over the past several months we have received many inquiries 
from developers about properties in this area and we feel that dollars spent on 
utility upgrades will produce a good return on our investment. 
 
 
 

 

 City of Statesboro 
Public Utilities Department  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 The estimated cost to construct this project is $4,210,000.00, which consist of: 
 
• Approximately 11,000 LF of 12” Water Main. 
• Approximately 4,500 LF of 15” Sanitary Sewer. 
• A new 1,000 GPM Lift Station. 
• Approximately 9,000 LF of 12” Force Main. 
• A pumping capacity upgrade of the existing S&S Railroad Bed Road Lift 
Station from 1,200 GPM to 1,600 GPM. 
 
Budget Impact: This project was approved to be paid for with System Revenues 
and 2019 SPLOST funds as approved in CIP items #196 & #197. 
 
Attachments: HGB Contract. 
 



 

 

March 25, 2024 

 

 

Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 

Director of Public Works 

City of Statesboro 

P.O. Box 348 

Statesboro, GA 30459 

 

Re: Proposal for Professional Services for the Burkhalter and S&S Railroad Bed Road 

Water and Sewer Extension 

 City of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

Dear Mr. Hotchkiss: 

 

Hussey Gay Bell is pleased to present our proposal for engineering services for the extension of 

water and sewer service along Burkhalter and S&S Railroad Bed Road. The scope of the project 

includes planning, design, permitting and construction services for the construction of: 

 

• Approximately 11,000 LF of 12” Water Main. 

• Approximately 4,500 LF of 15” Sanitary Sewer. 

• A new 1,000 GPM Lift Station. 

• Approximately 9,000 LF of 12” Force Main. 

• A pumping capacity upgrade of the existing S&S Railroad Bed Road Lift Station from 1,200 

GPM to 1,600 GPM. 

An exhibit showing the proposed scope and location of construction is attached. 

 

The specific scope of services is as follows: 

 

I. SUPPORT SERVICES 

 

(a) Topographic Survey - HGB will perform a topographic survey to locate existing 

facilities, physical ground elevations and underground utilities based on apparent 

and obvious appurtenances to serve as a basis for design of the new components. 

 

(b) Wetlands Delineation - HGB will delineate wetlands along the project route and 

survey wetlands boundaries for use in wetland permitting, if necessary. 

 

(c) Wetlands Permitting - Wetlands impacts are not expected with this project and 

wetlands permitting is not included in this proposal. If wetlands permitting is 

necessary for the project, HGB will provide a fee proposal based on the 

permitting services required for the project. 

 



 

 
Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 

March 25, 2024 

Page 2 

 

(d) Easement Plat Preparation - HGB will provide easement plats necessary for 

obtaining easements for the project on a per property basis. 

 

(e) Easement Acquisition – HGB will obtain a subconsultant for assistance with the 

acquisition of required easements. An allowance is provided in this proposal. 

 

(f) Geotechnical Investigation - HGB will subcontract and provide geotechnical 

investigation services as necessary to provide baseline information for design, bid 

and construction phases of the project. An allowance is provided in this proposal. 

 

II. DESIGN 

 

(a) Preliminary Design - The preliminary design will include a concept report, 

preliminary plans and exhibits showing the proposed lift stations and alignment 

for the proposed force main.  The preliminary design packages will be submitted 

to the City of Statesboro staff for review and approval at the 30% design phase. 

 

(b) Final Design - HGB will prepare final (100%) construction plans and 

specifications.  These documents will be submitted to the City of Statesboro staff 

for final review and approval.  

 

III. PERMITTING 

 

(a) Permitting - HGB will submit application packages for the necessary permits 

required for this project.  Some agencies to which permit applications may be 

required include Georgia EPD, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Georgia 

Soil and Water Conservation Commission. 

 

IV. BIDDING 

 

(a) Bidding and Award - HGB will assist the City of Statesboro with the bidding 

process including advertising the project, distributing bid packages, attending pre-

bid meetings, addressing RFI’s, preparing addenda, attending bid openings, 

evaluation of bid proposals and providing a recommendation of award. 

 

V. CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 

 

(a) Contract Administration - HGB will provide contract overview and 

administration services including attending a pre-construction meeting with the 

City of Statesboro and the Contractor, reviewing shop drawings, responding to 

RFIs, reviewing change order requests, reviewing pay requests, attending progress 

meetings and reviewing project close-out documents. 

 



 

 
Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 

March 25, 2024 

Page 3 

 

(b) Construction Overview - HGB will provide periodic construction observation 

services during the construction phase of the project upon request from the City of 

Statesboro at the hourly rate in the attached Schedule of Hourly Rates. 

 

(c) As-builts and Close-out Documents - HGB will prepare as-built drawings based 

on contractor-supplied information, provide all O&M manuals, project warranties 

and all other necessary close-out documents to complete the project.  

 

Our fee structure is as follows: 

 

I. Support Services 

 (a) Topographic Survey        $      36,000.00 

 (b) Wetlands Delineation       $        6,500.00 

 (c) Wetlands Permitting (if necessary)     $               N/A 

 (d) Easement Plat Preparation per Property    $           500.00 

 (e) Easement Acquisition Assistance (allowance)   $      20,000.00 

 (f) Geotechnical Investigation (allowance)    $      12,000.00 

II. Design 

 (a) Preliminary Design (Concept Report, 30%)    $      94,200.00 

 (b) Final Design (100%)       $      76,800.00 

III. Permitting 

 (a) Permitting        $      20,950.00 

IV. Bidding 

 (a) Bidding and Award       $      13,450.00 

III. Contract Administration 

 (a) Contract Overview and Administration    $     70,750.00 

 (b) Construction Overview (Hourly)     $          Hourly 

 (c) As-builts and Close-out Documents     $     22,950.00 

 

We appreciate the opportunity to present this proposal and will gladly accept a signed copy as 

our authorization to proceed with this project. 

 

Sincerely, 

HUSSEY, GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG, INC. 

 

 

 

 

C.J. Chance, P.E. 

COO of Georgia Operations 

 

 

ACCEPTED BY:       DATE:     

 

NAME AND TITLE:            



GC 1 of 6                                     

                                                                  

                                                                      

                                                  GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 

These GENERAL CONDITIONS are attached to and made a part of the Letter Agreement dated  

March 25, 2024,  between the CITY OF STATESBORO, GA (Client) and HUSSEY, GAY, 

BELL & DEYOUNG, INC. (Engineer) and pertain to the project described therein. 

 

1.     CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES. 

 

1.1   The Client shall make available access by the Engineer to public and private property as is 

required to perform such investigations as are appropriate to obtain data for development of the 

Project. 

 

1.2   The Client shall designate in writing a Representative for the work under this Agreement.  

The Client's Representative shall have complete authority to transmit the Client's instructions, 

policy and decisions pertaining to the project. 

 

1.3   The Client shall furnish, in writing, any limitations in the overall project budget.  This 

information shall be furnished at the beginning of the project. 

 

2.     ENGINEER'S RESPONSIBILITIES. 

 

2.1   Services performed by the Engineer under this agreement will be performed in a manner 

consistent with the standard of care exercised by other members of the profession currently 

engaged in similar work in the area and practicing under similar conditions.  No representation, 

either expressed or implied, or no guarantee or warranty is included or intended in this agreement. 

 

2.2   Based on the mutually accepted program of work and Project budget requirements, the 

Engineer will prepare, for approval by the Client, documents consisting of drawings and other 

documents appropriate for the Project, and shall also submit to the Client, if part of the Scope of 

Work,  a Statement of Probable Cost for the Project.  The Engineer will make every reasonable 

effort to perform services to accommodate the Client's budgetary limitations pertaining to total 

project construction cost.  However, such limitations will not be cause or reason to require the 

Engineer to furnish any product or instrument of service that is not consistent with the standard of 

care as described in Article 2.1. 

 

2.3    A change in scope of work, after the start of work, may influence the fees and the schedule 

as stated in this proposal.  Delay in providing information requested and/or review of documents 

in a reasonable amount of time is a change in the scope of work.  The Client will be notified, as 

soon as reasonably possible, when a change order has occurred.  The notification will include cost 

and design schedule impact.  The fee for changes in the scope of work will be per Article 3, 

Additional Services, in the General Conditions. 

 

 



GC 2 of 6                                     

3.     ADDITIONAL SERVICES. 

 

3.1  Additional services will be provided upon written agreement signed by both parties.  

Additional services shall be paid for by the Client as provided in these General Conditions in 

addition to the compensation for the services described in the Letter Agreement.  The following 

services, if not described in the Letter Agreement, shall be considered Additional Services: 

                                                                                                              

3.1.1  Providing a program study for the Project. 

 

3.1.2  Providing financial feasibility or other special studies. 

 

3.1.3  Providing planning  surveys,  site  evaluation, environmental studies or comparative studies 

of prospective sites, and preparing special surveys, studies and submissions, required for approvals 

of governmental authorities or others having jurisdiction over the Project. 

 

3.1.4  Providing coordination of Work performed by separate contractors or by the Client's own 

forces. 

 

3.1.5  Making revisions in Drawings, Specifications or other documents when such revisions are 

inconsistent with written approvals or instructions previously given, are required by the enactment 

or revision of codes, laws or regulations subsequent to the preparation of such documents or are 

due to other causes not solely within the control of the Engineer. 

 

3.1.6  Preparing to serve or serving as an expert witness in connection with any public hearing, 

arbitration proceeding or legal proceeding. 

 

3.1.7  Providing services of consultants other than contracted engineering services for the Project. 

 

3.1.8  Providing any other services not otherwise included in this Agreement or not customarily 

furnished in accordance with generally accepted engineering practice. 

 

3.2    Payment for Additional Services shall be as agreed upon in writing by both parties.  

Payment shall be based on a lump sum derived from a definitive scope of work developed by the 

Client and Engineer or on the basis of hourly rate and expenses.  Time charges shall be in 

accordance with the Engineer's Schedule of Hourly Rates, which is attached hereto and is a part of 

this Agreement.  Reimbursable Expenses are as defined in ARTICLE 4 of these General 

Conditions.  Payment for consultants other than the Engineer or services by others shall be paid 

for at 1.1 times their invoiced amount.  Payment for travel by Company or private vehicle shall be 

made at the rate of $0.55 per mile. 

 

4.     REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES. 

 

4.1   Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to the Compensation for Basic and Additional 

Services and include actual expenditures made by the Engineer and the Engineer's employees in 

the interest of Project for the expenses listed in the following Subparagraphs: 



GC 3 of 6                                     

 

4.1.1  Expense of transportation in connection with the Project; living expenses in connection 

with out-of-town travel; long distance communications; and fees paid for reviews or seeking 

approval of authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. 

                                                                                                   

4.1.2  Expense of reproductions, postage and handling of Drawings, Specifications, and other 

documents, excluding reproductions for the office use of the Engineer. 

 

4.1.3  Expense of data processing and photographic production techniques when used in 

connection with Additional Services. 

 

4.1.4  If authorized in advance by the Client, expenses of overtime work requiring higher than 

regular rates. 

 

4.1.5  Expense of renderings, models and mark-ups requested by the Client. 

 

4.1.6  Expense of any additional insurance coverage or limits, including professional liability 

insurance, requested by the Client in excess of that normally carried by the Engineer. 

 

5.     PAYMENT TO THE ENGINEER. 

 

5.1   Billing will be accomplished monthly with payment due upon receipt of the Engineer's 

invoice. Payment will be credited first to any interest owed to Engineer, and then to principal.  

Client recognizes that prompt payment of Engineer’s invoices is an essential aspect of the overall 

consideration Engineer requires for providing service to Client.  Client agrees to pay all charges 

not in dispute within 30 days of invoice date.  Any charges held to be in dispute shall be called to 

Engineer’s attention within ten days of receipt of Engineer’s invoice.  If Client contests an invoice, 

Client shall promptly advise Engineer of the specific basis for doing so, may withhold only that 

portion so contested, and must pay the undisputed portion. 

 

5.2 If the Client fails to make any payment due Engineer for services and expenses within 30 

days after receipt of Engineer’s invoice, then: 

 

5.2.1 Amounts due Engineer will be increased at the rate of 1.0% per month (or the maximum 

rate of interest permitted by law, if less) from said thirtieth day; and 

 

5.2.2 Engineer may, after giving seven days written notice to Client, suspend services under this 

Agreement until Client has paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses, and other related 

charges.  Client hereby waives any and all claims against Engineer for any such suspension. 

 

5.3 If after the Effective Date any government entity takes a legislative action that imposes 

taxes, fees or charges on Engineer’s services or compensation under this Agreement, then the 

Engineer may invoice such new taxes, fees, or charges as a Reimbursable Expense to which a 

factor of 1.0 shall be applied.  Client shall reimburse Engineer for the cost of such invoiced new 



GC 4 of 6                                     

taxes, fees, and charges; such reimbursement shall be in addition to the compensation to which 

Engineer is entitled under the original terms of this Agreement. 

 

6.     CONSTRUCTION COST. 

 

6.1   It is recognized that neither the Engineer nor the Client has control over the cost of labor, 

materials or equipment, over the Contractor's methods of determining bid prices, or over 

competitive bidding, market or negotiating conditions.  Accordingly, the Engineer cannot and does 

not warrant or represent that bids or negotiated prices will not vary from any Statement of Probable 

Construction Cost or other cost estimate or evaluation prepared by the Engineer. 

                                                                                                                         

7.     OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS. 

 

7.1    Drawings, Specifications, field data, notes, reports, calculations, test data, estimates and 

other documents as instruments of service are and shall remain the property of the Engineer 

whether the Project for which they are made is executed or not.  The Client shall be permitted to 

retain copies, including reproducible copies, of Drawings and Specifications for information and 

reference in connection with the Client's use and occupancy of the Project.  The Client shall also 

be permitted to retain electronic copies of all data, drawings, models, specifications and other 

documents that have been prepared in connection with specific projects.  The Client may utilize 

the aforementioned work products for which the Engineer has been paid.  Reuse of such data or 

information by the Client for any purpose other than that for which prepared shall be at the Client’s 

sole risk, and the Client agrees to defend and indemnify Engineer for all claims, damages, costs, 

and expenses arising out of such reuse by the Client. 

 

7.2 One set of deliverables including maps/prints/reports will be submitted for each project as 

appropriate.  Terms for provision of additional copies and other deliverable requirements will be 

established as part of each project scope of work.  Electronic copies of all deliverables will be 

made available to the Client if requested.  The exact file format of the deliverable will depend on 

the project goals and software utilized by the Engineer, and shall be coordinated with the Client as 

part of the project.  The Engineer shall retain these records for a period of two (2) years following 

their completion during which period additional paper copies and electronic files will be made 

available to the Client at reasonable times. 

 

7.3  Submission or distribution to meet official regulatory requirements or for other purposes 

in connection with the Project is not to be construed as publication in derogation of the Engineer`s 

rights. 

 

7.4 Only documents that are hard copies and have been signed and sealed by a representative 

of Engineer are documents of record for this project.  The documents of record have been produced 

for this project only and for a given time.  The documents are not to be used for any other project, 

or any other location, or and after two years beyond their date of issuance.  The use of these 

documents on other projects or at a time other than as stated may have an adverse effect.  All other 

documents, including electronic files, are documents for information only and are not documents 

of record. 



GC 5 of 6                                     

 

8.     TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT. 

 

8.1   This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven days' written notice should 

the other party fail substantially to perform in accordance with its terms through no fault of the 

party initiating the termination. 

 

8.2   This Agreement may be terminated by the Client upon at least seven days' written notice 

to the Engineer in the event that the Project is permanently abandoned. 

 

8.3  In the event of termination not the fault of the Engineer, the Engineer shall be compensated 

for all services performed to termination date, together with Reimbursable Expenses then due. 

 

9.     ABANDONED OR SUSPENDED WORK. 

 

9.1   Nothing in this Agreement nor in any document, report or opinion of the Engineer shall 

infer or imply that the Engineer's Services will be furnished on a contingent basis. 

  

9.2   If the Project or any part thereof is abandoned or suspended in whole or in part by the 

Client for any reason other than for default by the Engineer, the Engineer shall be paid for all 

services performed prior to receipt of written notice from the Client of such abandonment or 

suspension. 

 

10. INDEMNIFICATION. 

 

10.1 The Engineer shall indemnify and hold the Client harmless from claims, liability, losses, 

and causes of action to the extent caused by any willful or negligent act, error, or omission of the 

Engineer, including those parties contracted by the Engineer as subcontractors, incidental to the 

performance of the Services under this Agreement. 

 

11.    LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 

 

11.1  Work to be performed and services rendered by the Engineer under this Agreement are 

intended for the sole benefit of the Client.  Nothing herein shall confer any rights upon others or 

shall refer any duty on the part of the Engineer to any person or persons not a party to this 

agreement including, but not limited to, any contractor, sub-contractor, supplier, or any agent, 

employee, insurer, or surety of such person or persons. 

                                                                                                                               

11.2  The Engineer will not be responsible for and will not have control or charge of construction 

means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in 

connection with the Work, and he will not be responsible for the Contractor's failure to carry out 

the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or for the Contractor's failure to enforce 

safety requirements set forth by Federal, State and Local agencies.  The Engineer will not be 

responsible for or have control or charge over the acts or omissions of the Contractor, 



GC 6 of 6                                     

Subcontractors, or any of their agents or employees, or any other persons performing any of the 

Work. 

 

11.3 The Client agrees to limit the Engineer’s and its employees’ liability to the Client and to 

all construction Contractors and Subcontractors on the project, due to the Engineer’s negligent 

acts, errors, or omissions to meet the professional service standard of care requirements, such that 

the total aggregate liability of the Engineer to those named shall not exceed $2,000,000 and the 

per claim liability shall not exceed $1,000,000.  This Client standard liability cap shall apply to all 

projects under this agreement including associated addenda, and any change orders for specific 

projects.  This standard liability cap may be adjusted for distinct individual projects by mutual 

written consent of both parties as warranted by specific project conditions.   

 

11.4 Engineer, its principals, employees, agents or consultants shall perform no services relating 

to the investigation, detention, abatement, replacement, discharge, or removal of any toxic or 

hazardous contaminants or materials except as specifically provided for in the Letter Agreement.  

The Engineer shall have no liability for claims arising out of the performance or failure to perform 

professional services related to the investigation, detection, abatement, replacement, discharge or 

removal of products, materials or processes containing asbestos or any other toxic or hazardous 

contaminants or materials (“Hazardous Materials”) except as specifically provided for in the Letter 

Agreement. 

 

12.    MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

 

12.1   This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the principal place of business of the 

Engineer. 

 

12.2  The Client and the Engineer, respectively, bind themselves, their partners, successors, 

assigns and legal representatives to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, 

successors, assigns and legal representatives of such party with respect to all covenants of this 

Agreement.  Neither the Client nor the Engineer shall assign, sublet or transfer any interest in this 

Agreement without the written consent of the other. 

 

12.3 This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement between the Client and the 

Engineer and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or 

oral.  This Agreement may be amended only by written instrument signed by both Client and 

Engineer.       

 

Revised 3-10-16 



Hussey, Gay, Bell & DeYoung, Inc.
Consulting Engineers 
Savannah, GA

                

SCHEDULE OF HOURLY RATES
Rate Effective

3/1/2023

Principal Engineer 235.00          

Professional Engineer (Testimony and Preparation) 395.00          

Engineer V / Associate 215.00          

Engineer IV 195.00          

Engineer III 180.00          

Engineer II 175.00          

Engineer I 165.00          

Assistant Engineer 150.00          

Technician III 140.00          

Technician II 130.00          

Technician I 120.00          

Landscape Architect 160.00          

Senior Project Representative 125.00          

Project Representative 110.00          

Registered Land Surveyor III           190.00          

Registered Land Surveyor II 165.00          

Registered Land Surveyor I 150.00          

3-Man Survey Crew 200.00          

2-Man Survey Crew 190.00          

1-Man Survey Crew 165.00          

Senior Administrative 130.00          

Administrative 85.00            



SCHEDULE OF REIMBURSABLE RATES 
 January 2019 

REPRODUCTION COSTS PER PAGE: 

Plan Sheets – Bond (B/W)       . 
11 x 17 / 12 x 18 $  0.60 
24 x 36 $  1.50 
30 x 42 $  2.15 

Plan Sheets – Bond (Color - Line)  . 
11 x 17 / 12 x 18 $  3.25 
24 x 36 $24.00 
30 x 42 $35.00 

Plan Sheets – Bond (Color – Solid Fill)      . 
11 x 17 / 12 x 18 $  4.75 
24 x 36 $48.00 
30 x 42 $70.00 

Plan Sheets – Mylar (B/W)  .. 
24 x 36 $15.60 
30 x 42 $22.75 

Specifications (B/W)  . 
8.5 x 11 $  0.20 

CD / Flash Drives 
Actual costs including media costs 
and staff time at standard rates 

OVERNIGHT DELIVERY:  Cost + 10% 

AUTO MILEAGE:  $0.54 per mile 

 AIRFARE:  Actual Cost  
 (Economy Class – Domestic; Business Class – Foreign) 

ROOM & BOARD:   Actual Cost 



2000 ft

N

➤➤

N

cburke
Callout
Upgrade Existing Lift Station to 1,600 GPM

cburke
PolyLine

cburke
Polygon

cburke
Polygon

cburke
PolyLine

cburke
Ellipse

cburke
PolyLine

cburke
Ellipse

cburke
PolyLine

cburke
PolyLine

cburke
Callout
New 1,000 GPM Lift Station

cburke
Callout
New 12" Water Main

cburke
Callout
Connect to Existing 12" Water Main

cburke
Callout
Connect to Existing 12" Water Main(end not shown)

cburke
Callout
New 15" Sanitary Sewer

cburke
Callout
New 15" Sanitary Sewer

cburke
Callout
S&S Railroad Bed Road

cburke
PolyLine

cburke
Callout
New 12" Force Main

cburke
Callout
New 12" Force Main


	04-16-2024 Council Agenda
	Fair Housing Month Proclamation - April
	04-02-2024 Council Minutes
	memo surplus f350 2024
	Council Memo_&Packet_APR_2024 - Zoning
	Azul Tex-Mex
	Memo for Azul Tex Mex
	Azul Tex-Mex Express LLC_Redacted
	Copy of Copy of Copy of Copy of Copy of Copy of  Review Sheet Alcohol License (3)

	Council Memo_& Packet_APR_2024 - Comp Plan
	Memo resolution 2024
	Resolution 2024- Destruction of Records
	Records Destruction approvals
	Memo City of Ethics Resolution
	Resolution 2024 Certified City of Ethics
	Noise Memo
	Noise CHAPTER 38
	Security Enhancement Incentive Application Agenda Item April 16
	City of Statesboro20240409093226
	Profession Service Agreement Railroad bed - Burkhalter 2024 (1)
	Burkhalter and S&S RR Bed Rd Proposal (1)



